View me<u>ta</u>data, citation o^t cao

Pediatric Graduate School Hospital for Children and Adolescents University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland

BONE HEALTH AND VITAMIN D STATUS IN CHILDREN WITH MOTOR DISABILITY AND ADULTS WITH INTELLECTUAL DISABILITY

Päivi Kilpinen-Loisa

ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

To be presented, with the permission of the Medical Faculty of the University of Helsinki, for public examination in the Auditorium of Päijät-Häme Central Hospital, Lahti, on May 12, 2010, at noon.

Helsinki 2010

Supervisors

Docent Outi Mäkitie Department of Pediatrics Helsinki University Hospital Helsinki, Finland Professor Helena Pihko Department of Pediatric Neurology Helsinki University Hospital Helsinki, Finland

Reviewers

Research Professor Ilona Autti-Rämö KELA Research Department Helsinki, Finland Docent Kirsti Näntö-Salonen Department of Pediatrics Turku University Hospital Turku, Finland

Opponent

Docent Jarmo Jääskeläinen Department of Pediatrics Kuopio University Hospital Kuopio, Finland

ISBN 978-952-92-7056-9 (paperback) ISBN 978-952-10-6154-7 (PDF)

Kopijyvä Kuopio, 2010 Finland

CONTENTS

LIST OF	ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	6
ABBREV	VIATIONS	7
ABSTRA	СТ	9
1. INTRC	DUCTION	11
2. REVIE	W OF THE LITTERATURE	13
2.1.	Bone structure	13
2.2.	Bone cells and bone metabolism	14
	Osteoblasts	14
	Osteoclasts	15
	Osteocytes	15
	Bone modeling and remodeling	15
2.3.	Bone mass accrual	17
	Effect of physical activity on bone	19
2.4.	Assessment of bone health	19
	Dual energy x-ray absorptiometry	20
	Quantitative computed tomography	21
	Quantitative Ultrasound	21
	Magnetic Resonance Imaging	21
	Radiography	22
	Bone biopsy	23
	Bone markers	24
2.5.	Osteoporosis	25
	Definition and prevalence of osteoport	osis 25
	Definition of osteoporosis in children	25
	Primary osteoporosis	26
	Secondary osteoporosis	27
2.6.	Severe motor disability	29

	Classification of gross motor deficits	29
2.7.	Intellectual disability	30
2.8.	Bone health in children with severe motor disability	31
2.9.	Bone health in adults with intellectual disability	33
2.10	. Vitamin D	33
	Vitamin D metabolism	34
	Functions of vitamin D in the body	36
	Sources of vitamin D	36
	Dietary sources of vitamin D	38
	Optimal vitamin D status in adults	40
	Optimal vitamin D status in children	40
	Severe vitamin D deficiency	41
2.11	. Calcium and bone health	41
2.12	. Other nutritional factors and bone health	43
3. AIMS (OF THE STUDY	44
4. PATIEI	NTS AND METHODS	45
4.1.	Study subjects	45
	Children with severe motor disability at Päijät-Häme	
	Central Hospital	45
	Children with severe motor disability at Ruskeasuo School	45
	Adults with intellectual disability at Pääjärvi Nursing Homes	45
4.2.	Methods	46
	Study design	46
	Clinical assessment	47
	Laboratory tests	47
	Radiological evaluation	48
	Nutritional assessment	49
	Statistical analysis	50
5. RESUL	TS	51
5.1.	Bone health and its determinant in children with motor disability	
	(I, II)	51

	Bone mineral density	51
	Fractures	51
	Diagnosis of osteoporosis	53
	Biochemical findings	55
	Hypercalciuria	55
	Nutrition	56
5.2.	Vitamin D interventions (III, IV)	59
	Vitamin D intervention in children with motor disability	61
	Vitamin D intervention in adults with intellectual disability	61

6. DISCUSSION	64
6.1. Clinical significance and therapeutic implications	64
Osteoporosis and low BMD in children with motor disability	64
Fractures in children with motor disabilities	65
Vitamin D deficiency and optimal vitamin D dosing	67
Nutrition	69
Clinical message	70
6.2. Limitations of the study	71
6.3. Future perspectives	73
7. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	74

8. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	75

9. REFERENCES	78

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following publications, which are referred to in the text by Roman numerals (I-IV):

- Kilpinen-Loisa P, Paasio T, Soiva M, Ritanen UM, Lautala P, Palmu P,
 Pihko H, Mäkitie O. Low bone mass in patients with motor disability:
 Prevalence and risk factors in 59 Finnish children. Dev Med Child Neurol.
 2009 Aug 26 [Epub ahead of print].
- II Kilpinen-Loisa P, Pihko H, Vesander U, Paganus A, Ritanen U, MäkitieO. Insufficient energy and nutrient intake in children with motor disability.Acta Paediatr 2009 Aug; 98(8): 1329-33. Epub 2009 May 8.
- III Kilpinen-Loisa P, Nenonen H, Pihko H, Mäkitie O. High dose vitamin D supplementation in children with cerebral palsy or neuromuscular disorder. Neuropediatrics 2007; 38(4): 167-72.
- IV Kilpinen-Loisa P, Arvio M, Ilvesmäki V, Mäkitie O. Vitamin D status and optimal supplementation in institutionalized adults with intellectual disability. J Intellect Disabil Res. 2009 Dec; 53(12): 1014-23. Epub.

These articles are reprinted with the kind permission of their copyright holders. In addition, some unpublished material is presented.

ABBREVIATIONS

aBMD	Areal bone mineral density
ALP	Alkaline phosphatase
BMAD	Bone mineral apparent density
BMC	Bone mineral content
BMD	Bone mineral density
BMI	Body mass index
Ca	Calcium
Crea	Creatinine
СР	Cerebral palsy
CV	Coefficient of variation
D2	Ergocalciferol
D3	Cholecalciferol
DBP	Vitamin D binding protein
DMD	Duchenne muscular dystrophy
DXA	Dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry
FNR	Finnish Nutrition Recommendations
GMFCS	Gross motor function classification system
Hb	Hemoglobin
ICD-10	International Classification of Diseases
ICTP	Carboxyterminal telopeptide of type I collagen
ID	Intellectual disability
IGF-I	Insulin-like growth factor I
IGFBP3	Insulin-like growth factor binding protein 3
IJO	Idiopathic juvenile osteoporosis
IL-1	Interleukin 1
IL-6	Interleukin 6
IM	Intramuscular
IQ	Intelligence quotient
IVA	Instant vertebral assessment
LRP5	Low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 5
LVA	Lateral vertebral assessment
MMC	Myelomeningocele

MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging
NIH	National Institutes of Health
NTX	N-telopeptide of type I collagen
OI	Osteogenesis imperfecta
OPG	Osteoprotegerin
Р	Plasma
PBM	Peak bone mass
PEG	Percutaneous endoscopic gastrostomy tube
Pi	Phosphate
PINP	Aminoterminal propeptide of type I procollagen
РО	Peroral
pQCT	Peripheral quantitative computed tomography
Prealb	Prealbumin
РТН	Parathyroid hormone
QCT	Quantitative computed tomography
RANKL	Receptor activator of nuclear factor kappa B ligand
RDA	Recommended dietary allowance
S	Serum
SD	Standard deviation
SMA	Spinal muscular atrophy
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor
U	Urine
UVB	Ultraviolet B radiation
vBMD	Volumetric bone mineral density
VDR	Vitamin D receptor
WHO	World Health Organization
1,25(OH) ₂ D	1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D, calcitriol
25-OHD	25-hydroxyvitamin D, calcidiol

ABSTRACT

Osteoporosis is not only a disease of the elderly, but is increasingly diagnosed in chronically ill children. Children with severe motor disabilities, such as cerebral palsy (CP), have many risk factors for osteoporosis. Adults with intellectual disability (ID) are also prone to low bone mineral density (BMD) and increased fractures. This study was carried out to identify risk factors for low BMD and osteoporosis in children with severe motor disability and in adults with ID. Since vitamin D is essential for normal skeletal development, mineralization, and growth and for maintenance of skeletal health throughout life, we assessed vitamin D status and optimal means of improving status in these two patient populations.

Studies I and II included 59 children with severe motor disability, ranging in age from 5 to 16 years, who were followed at Päijät-Häme Central Hospital at the Department of Pediatric Neurology. Lumbar spine BMD was measured with dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry. BMD values were corrected for bone size by calculating bone mineral apparent density (BMAD), and for bone age when calendar age and bone age differed by more than one year. The values were transformed into Z-scores by comparison with normative data. Spinal radiographs were assessed for vertebral morphology. Blood samples were obtained for biochemical parameters of calcium homeostasis and nutrition. Parents were requested to keep a food diary for three days. The median daily energy and nutrient intakes were calculated and compared with national nutrition recommendations for age and sex.

Study III included 44 children and adolescents, aged 9 to 18 years, with severe motor disability at Ruskeasuo School, a special school for children with disabilities. After baseline blood samples, the subjects were divided into two groups; those in the treatment group received 1000 IU peroral vitamin D3 five days a week for 10 weeks, and subjects in the control group continued with their normal diet. In Study IV, 138 institutionalized adults with ID were allocated to receive either 800 IU peroral vitamin D3 daily for six months or a single intramuscular injection of 150 000 IU D3. Blood samples were obtained at baseline and after treatment.

Fractures were common; 17% of the children in Study I had sustained peripheral fractures and 25% had compression fractures. Among adults with ID, nine peripheral fractures in six patients were diagnosed during the preceding five years. BMD was low in children with motor disabilities; the median spinal BMAD Z-score was -1.0 (range - 5.0 - +2.0) and the BMAD Z-score <-2.0 in 20% of the children. Low BMAD Z-score and hypercalciuria were significant risk factors for fractures. In children with motor disability, calcium intakes were sufficient, while total energy and vitamin D intakes were not. Serum concentrations of 25-OH-vitamin D (S-25-OHD) were low in all subgroups before vitamin D intervention: in almost 60% of children and in 77% of adults the S-25-OHD concentration was below 50 nmol/L, indicating vitamin D insufficiency. After vitamin D intervention, 19% of children and 42% adults who received vitamin D perorally and 12% of adults who received vitamin D intramuscularly had optimal S-25-OHD (>80 nmol/L).

This study demonstrated that low BMD and peripheral and spinal fractures are common in children with severe motor disabilities. Vitamin D status was suboptimal in the majority of children with motor disability and adults with ID and may together with inadequate weight-bearing activity contribute to poor bone health. Vitamin D insufficiency can be corrected with vitamin D supplements; the peroral dose should be at least 800 IU per day. Evaluation of bone health and prevention of osteoporosis should be included in the follow-up of children and adults with motor disability or ID.

1. INTRODUCTION

Osteoporosis is a disorder that has been considered to affect mainly the adult population, especially postmenopausal women. However, increasing evidence suggests that also children, particularly those with chronic diseases, may develop symptomatic osteoporosis (van der Sluis et al. 2001). This may be caused by the chronic disease itself or by factors related to treatment and medication of the disease. Specific risk factors consist of prolonged immobilization, malnutrition and vitamin D deficiency, use of glucocorticoids or cytotoxic agents, factors related to the underlying illness such as inflammatory cytokines, hypoxia, malabsorption, and nutritional problems, and various endocrine problems including hypogonadism and delayed growth and maturation (Sochett and Mäkitie 2005).

Children with severe motor disability have many risk factors for secondary osteoporosis. Most importantly, their weight-bearing activity, which is known to be crucial for normal bone mass accrual, is reduced. Many children with severe motor disability also have feeding problems and suboptimal calcium, vitamin D and other nutrient intakes because of oral-motor difficulties, dysphagia, vomiting, and constipation (Sullivan et al. 2000). People with severe motor disabilities are often housebound and have reduced sunlight exposure, and consequently, reduced serum vitamin D concentrations. Furthermore, recent studies have shown that antiepileptic drugs, commonly prescribed for children with severe motor disabilities, may cause bone loss (Fitzpatrick 2004). Low bone mass and bone mineral density (BMD) have been observed in a significant proportion of children with cerebral palsy (CP) (Henderson et al. 2002).

Similar risk factors for impaired bone health are present also in some adults with intellectual disability (ID) if their moving ability is reduced, especially if they are institutionalized. People with ID often have reduced mobility and outdoor activities, use of antiepileptics, poor nutrition, and vitamin D insufficiency (Jaffe et al. 2005). Other risk factors include hypogonadism or therapeutic amenorrhea (Arvio et al. 2009). Many of these factors may be present from early childhood, influencing the acquisition of bone mass. Low BMD and osteoporosis are common in adults with ID (Aspray et al.

1998). Further, fractures are 1.7-3.5 times more frequent in adults with ID than in the normal population (Tannenbaum et al. 1989, Lohiya et al. 1999).

Vitamin D deficiency is a worldwide problem and is associated with various health outcomes (Holick 2004). Low vitamin D concentration results in a negative calcium balance and in secondary hyperparathyroidism, both of which have a negative impact on bone mineral content (BMC) and BMD. Vitamin D is synthesized in the skin with ultraviolet radiation from the sun or absorbed from food in the gut (Holick 2004). In Finland, dairy products are fortified with vitamin D. However, some studies have shown that vitamin D intakes in the general Finnish population remain inadequate (Lamberg-Allardt et al. 2006) to compensate for the lack of sunlight exposure, especially in the wintertime. Adequate vitamin D intake and serum levels are particularly important in people with motor disabilities, who already are at an increased risk of developing symptomatic osteoporosis because of decreased weight-bearing capacity.

Bone health and vitamin D status in children or adults with severe motor or intellectual disabilities have not been previously studied in Finland. We therefore carried out a study to assess skeletal health and associated risk factors in Finnish patients and to evaluate different vitamin D doses to determine optimal vitamin D supplementation in these patient groups.

2. REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

2.1. Bone structure

The skeleton has multiple functions. It provides mechanical support for weight bearing and moving and protects internal organs, but also stores vast quantities of calcium, phosphate, and magnesium, most of the calcium and phosphate of the body being stored in the skeleton (Baron 2003). Further, bone marrow serves as a place for hematopoiesis (Baron 2003). Two types of bones can be distinguished anatomically: flat bones (skull, scapula, mandible, ileum) and long bones (e.g. tibia, femur, and humerus).

Bone tissue is macroscopically divided into cortical (compact) and trabecular (cancellous, spongy) bone. Cortical bone is found in the diaphyses of long bones, while trabecular bone is present at the ends (metaphyses) of long bones, in vertebrae and nearby joint surfaces, and in flat bones (Baron 2003). Approximately 80% of the skeleton is cortical bone and 20% trabecular bone. These bone types differ in metabolic activity, trabecular bone being more active and involved in mineral homeostasis. Twenty-five percent of trabecular bone, but only 2-5% of cortical bone, is replaced every year (Baron 2003).

Bone is composed of mineral (50-70%) and organic components (20-40%), water, and lipids. The major mineral component in bone extracellular matrix is hydroxyapatite (95%), and the remainder consists of calcium carbonate, calcium citrate, and magnesium. The organic bone matrix is mainly (90%) composed of type I collagen fibers. The remaining matrix is formed by noncollagenous proteins including, glycoproteins, osteocalcin, sialoproteins, and proteoclygans. Bone cells, i.e. osteoblasts, osteoclasts, and osteocytes, comprise only 2% of the organic bone component. (Baron 2003).



2.2. Bone cells and bone metabolism

Figure 1. Origin of osteoblasts, osteocytes, and osteoclasts. Osteoblasts originate from mesenchymal stem cells and mature into osteocytes. Osteoclasts originate from hematopoietic stem cells.

Osteoblasts

Osteoblasts arise from multipotent precursor cells of mesenchymal origin (Figure 1). Osteoblasts are responsible for bone formation and secrete collagen and other bone matrix proteins. The organic bone matrix is called the osteoid. Osteoblasts also contribute to mineralization of the osteoid by secreting several proteins, such as alkaline phophatase, osteocalcin, and osteopontin, that are essential in the mineralization process. Osteoblast activity is regulated by numerous hormones and cytokines. Osteoblast lineage cells regulate osteoclasts by secreting osteoprotegerin (OPG), which is an important inhibitor of osteoclastogenesis. Osteoblast lineage cells have receptors for e.g. 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D [1,25-(OH)₂D] and parathyroid hormone (PTH). (Baron 2003, Grabowski 2009).

Osteoclasts

Osteoclasts originate from the hematopoietic lineage (Figure 1) and are responsible for bone resorption. Osteoclasts function on the surface of calcified bone. The key regulators of osteoclastogenesis are receptor activator of nuclear factor kappa B ligand (RANKL) and OPG. RANKL and OPG are produced by osteoblasts. Mature osteoclasts secrete acid and proteolytic enzymes causing bone resorption. Degradation products, including collagen fragments, phosphate, and calcium, are released into the circulation. In an optimal/normal situation, bone formation and resorption are coupled. (Grabowski 2009).

Osteocytes

Osteocytes originate from osteoblasts (Figure 1). Osteocytes comprise the largest proportion of cells in mineralized bone and give support to bone structure by forming numerous cytoplasmic connections with adjacent cells. Remodeling is thought to be mediated by osteocytes. Further, osteocytes respond to mechanical strain on bones and mediate signals for bone formation and resorption. Osteocytes may undergo apoptosis, which is important for skeletal development, but also contributes to bone loss in osteoporosis. (Lian et al. 2003).

Bone modeling and remodeling

During growth the bones maintain their normal shape by bone modeling (Baron 2003). The process of bone maintenance, in which old bone is removed and then replaced by new bone, is called remodeling (Figure 2). Modeling and remodeling mechanisms are influenced by a vast variety of systemic and local factors, and they respond rapidly to the body's metabolic homeostasis. Bone formation is mediated by osteoblasts and bone resorption by osteoclasts (Baron 2003).

Bone is continuously turned over in the remodeling process, which consists of bone resorption and formation in a lifelong process with successive cycles (Mundy et al. 2003). In this process, osteoclasts resorb old bone tissue. This part is soon replaced by

new bone made by osteoblasts. Remodeling maintains the normal shape of bones and renews bone tissue. Further, through remodeling, damaged bone tissue can be removed and replaced by new bone. Normally, the activities of osteoblasts and osteoclasts are balanced in adults, and remodeling has no effect on the amount of bone. Bone loss occurs, as in menopausal osteoporosis, when the amount of bone resorption is higher than the amount of bone formation. Trabecular bone is more active in remodeling than cortical bone (Mundy et al. 2003).



Figure 2. Bone modeling and remodeling. Osteoclasts break down old bone tissue. This is soon followed by osteoblast activity; osteoblasts form new collagen and other matrix proteins. The collagenous matrix then undergoes mineralization (Adapted from Baron 2003).

In the modeling process, osteoblasts form new bone without prior bone resorption, and consequently, an increase in the amount of bone tissue is possible (Mundy et al. 2003). Further, osteoblasts form more bone than osteoclasts remove, and this leads to net increase in bone tissue. During childhood there is more modeling than remodeling. Modeling maintains the normal shape of bones during growth and is responsible for the increase in bone circumference during growth (Mundy et al. 2003).

Both bone modeling and remodeling are influenced by parathyroid hormone (PTH), sex, growth, and thyroid hormones; glucocorticoids; growth factors, cytokines, and prostaglandins; hereditary and nutritional factors; and physical activity (Mundy et al. 2003, Seeman and Delmas 2006, Shapiro 2008).

Longitudinal bone growth is called endochondral bone formation and occurs mainly in growth plate cartilages (Karsenty and Kronenberg 2002). Growth plates are present in the ends of long bones. In the growth plates, mesenchymal cells condense and turn into chondrocytes. Chondrocytes synthesize collagens and other matrix molecules. This spongiosa is subsequently remodeled into mature trabecular bone.

2.3. Bone mass accrual

Bone mass gain is accelerated between 11 and 13 years in girls and 13 and 17 years in boys, coinciding with puberty. In adolescent females, bone mass gain declines rapidly after menarche, while in males it remains significant up to the age of 20 years (Bonjour et al. 1991). Bone mass (and strength) achieved by the end of growth period is known as peak bone mass (PBM) (Figure 3). Especially during the years of high bone mass gain, bones are vulnerable to effects of chronic conditions (Bonjour et al. 1991, Kröger et al. 1993).

Bone mass gain is similar in boys and girls in prepuberty. Sex steroids regulate bone growth in puberty. In boys, the onset of puberty occurs later than in girls and the period of increased bone growth lasts longer, which is thought to be the reason for the gender difference in PBM after puberty (Theintz et al. 1992). In puberty, boys gain more bone mass as a result of the greater bone size increment induced by testosterone. At the end

of puberty, cortical thickness is greater in males. Estrogen, growth hormone, and insulin-like growth factor I are responsible for pubertal growth and attainment of PBM in girls (Bonjour et al. 2009). Estrogens are essential for longitudinal bone growth, and they accelerate bone growth at the beginning of puberty. Estrogens are also needed for closure of growth plates in both sexes (Bonjour et al. 1994, Seeman 2002).

Bone mass begins to diminish after the age of 40 years. In women, this reduction is faster due to the decline in estrogen concentration in menopause. PBM is a strong determinant of bone health in adulthood; the greater the achieved PBM, the smaller the risk for osteoporosis and fractures later in life (Bonjour et al. 1991, 2009). An increase in PBM by one standard deviation is estimated to reduce the fracture risk by 50% (Bonjour et al. 2009).

Several factors, including physical activity, nutrition, race, gender, hormonal status, and pubertal developmental stage, chronic illnesses, and medication, can affect PBM accretion during childhood and adolescence, although 60-80% is determined by genetic factors (Slemenda et al. 1991).



Figure 3. Peak bone mass is attained by 20 years of age. Several factors, including genetic factors, lifestyle factors, and hormones, can affect the magnitude of peak bone mass.

Effect of physical activity on bone

Physical activity during childhood and adolescence appears to be an important predictor of bone mass. Children who are physically more active and participate in sports have a higher BMD than those who are less active (Cassell et al. 1996, Janz et al. 2001). It is not clear whether the positive effect of physical activity in youth is extended to older age and results in reduced fracture risk. However, recent studies have shown that women who were physically more active in adolescence preserved higher BMC later in life, even after menopause (Baxter-Jones et al. 2008, Kato et al. 2009). In children with chronic diseases, especially these with motor disabilities, physical activity can be impaired, affecting their BMD.

The so-called mechanostat and muscle-bone-unit theories attempt to explain the effect of physical activity and mechanical forces on bone strength (Frost and Schönau 2000). These theories suggest that control of bone strength is dependent upon muscle load on bone, and bone mass and strength are related to muscle function. The theories further suggest that mechanical loads, which are muscle functions, result in bone strains, causing osteoblasts to stimulate bone modeling and leading to increased bone strength (Frost and Schönau 2000). If strains to bones are low, remodeling removes bone on the endocortical surface, resulting in a thinner bone cortex. Maximal force activities with intense short spurts of repetitive muscular contractions increase bone strength more than low-force static activities (Schönau 2005).

2.4. Assessment of bone health

Different means of evaluating bone metabolism, bone mass, and bone strength exist. Most of these methods have been developed mainly to study postmenopausal osteoporosis, and their use in the evaluation of the growing skeleton is not as well established.

Dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry

Dual energy x-ray absorptiometry (DXA) has been the gold standard for BMD assessment in adults since the late 1980s, and more recently, it has also been widely used in children (Kanis 2000, Crabtree and Ward 2009). DXA is a noninvasive method to quantify bone mass; total body composition and fat content can also be measured. DXA measures BMC as an attenuation of the x-ray by the scanned bones. The result is given as a T-score, which signifies the number of standard deviation (SD) units that a BMD measurement differs from the mean of sex-matched young adult reference data (Kanis 2000). Z-scores instead of T-scores should be used in children (Bishop et al. 2008). A Z-score compares measurements with age-, and gender-specific reference data. In children, bone size and maturation should be considered by using bone age instead of calendar age (Fewtrell 2003, Bishop et al. 2008, Crabtree and Ward 2009).

The radiation dose of DXA measurement is dependent on measurement site, but is usually small (0.1-6 μ SV) compared with many other radiological assessments (Säteilyturvakeskus 2009). This is important in children, who are sensitive to radiation. Further, the imaging time is short, allowing assessment of bone mass also in young children with poor cooperation. DXA measures areal, not volumetric BMD; BMC (g) is divided by the area (cm²) of the scanned site (Carter et al. 1992, Crabtree and Ward 2009). It provides a BMD expressed as grams per area of anatomic site (g/cm²). DXA does not measure true BMD, which is bone mass divided by bone volume (g/cm³). Mathematical models have been created to correct for bone size and calculate bone mineral apparent density (BMAD) (Kröger et al. 1993).

Because of the two-dimensional nature of the technique, DXA may underestimate BMD in children with short stature (Fewtrell et al. 2005). DXA does not take into account the depth of bones. Thus, DXA is size-dependent and has limitations in measuring children in whom bones change in size and shape during growth. Furthermore, especially in children with chronic illness, pubertal maturation should be considered by using bone age instead of calendar age (Fewtrell et al. 2005, Valta et al. 2008, Crabtree and Ward 2009).

According to a recent statement of the International Society for Clinical Densitometry Official Positions, skeletal sites recommended for DXA assessment in children are the lumbar spine (posterior-anterior) and the total body excluding the head (Gordon et al. 2008). The proximal femur, unlike in adults, is not considered a reliable measurement site in growing bone due to significant variability in the skeletal maturation of this site. According to the Positions, DXA is the only method recommended for pediatric use in the assessment of bone mass in clinical settings (Gordon et al. 2008).

Quantitative computed tomography

The main limitation of DXA is that it uses information gained from a two-dimensional projection to assess a three-dimensional structure. By contrast, quantitative computed tomography (QCT) provides a three-dimensional image, which enables the measurement of true volumetric density (vBMD), and thus provides size-independent measures of trabecular and cortical bone (Specker and Schoenau 2005). The fact that this method has a 10- to 12-fold greater dose for ionizing radiation than DXA has led to the use of peripheral quantitative computed tomography (pQCT). The radiation dose, approximately < 1 μ SV, is much lower than in normal QCT (Specker and Schoenau 2005). The sites of measurement are the radius, tibia, and femur. Pediatric pQCT reference data are available for the radius (Rauch and Schönau 2008).

Quantitative Ultrasound

Quantitative ultrasound was developed in the 1980s. It is a nonionizing and noninvasive method, and the equipment is portable (Specker and Schönau 2005). The measurement is based on the attenuation of the ultrasound beam when it passes through bone. Calcaneal and phalangeal reference values are available for both adults and children.

Magnetic Resonance Imaging

Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) enables trabecular bone to be distinguished from cortical bone (Crabtree and Ward 2009). MRI provides a volumetric measure, and bone

strength and trabecular architecture can be calculated. MRI is used mainly for research purposes, and its use in clinical practice is limited (Crabtree and Ward 2009).

Radiography

Evaluation of BMD from conventional radiographs is not accurate; BMD can be reduced by more than 30% until it becomes visible in a radiograph. Instead, conventional radiographs can be used to assess vertebral morphology and osteoporotic fractures (Genant et al. 1993).

A pediatric scoring method for evaluation of vertebral changes has also been developed (Mäkitie et al. 2005). This method was created for the evaluation of changes in vertebral morphology in childhood secondary osteoporosis. Morphological changes are classified as normal or mild deformities (grade 0, 1a, 1b, 1c) when the compression is less than 20%. The changes are considered abnormal if the anterior, middle and/or posterior part of the vertebra is compressed by 20% or more (2a, 2b, 3a, 3b). These changes can further be classified as mild anterior wedge deformities, 2a, when there is 20-49% anterior height reduction, as severe anterior wedge deformities, 3a, when there is 20-49% middle height reduction, or as severe compression deformities, 3b, when there is \geq 50% middle height reduction (Figure 4) (Mäkitie et al. 2005).



Figure 4. Pediatric grading method for vertebral compression fractures in secondary osteoporosis. Reprinted from Mäkitie et al. 2005 with the permission of Elsevier Ltd.

Spinal imaging with DXA can also be used to assess vertebral morphology. Instant vertebral assessment (IVA, Hologic densitometers) (Mäyränpää et al. 2007) and lateral vertebral assessment (LVA, Lunar densitometers) (Binkley et al. 2005) may not be as accurate as conventional radiographs, but the radiation dose is much lower than with radiography; this method thus has its advantages for use in children.

Bone biopsy

The best method to assess bone structure and metabolism is an invasive bone biopsy (Rauch 2009). Biopsy is usually obtained from the iliac crest with a needle. A good sample contains two cortices separated by a trabecular compartment. Biopsy samples can be assessed qualitatively and quantitatively; trabecular and cortical bone structure,

the mineralization process, the activity of bone metabolism, and bone cells can be examined (Rauch 2009). Quantitative analysis by computerized histomorphometry is an important method to examine bone metabolism; the analysis focuses on remodeling of trabecular bone. A bone biopsy is indicated if the diagnosis is unclear with noninvasive methods in a patient with vertebral compression fractures or multiple long bone fractures caused by minor trauma.

Bone markers

Biochemical markers of bone turnover, or bone markers, have proven useful and noninvasive tools for studying bone metabolism (Seibel 2005, 2006). Their main use is in monitoring response to bisphosphonate treatment. These biochemical markers can be assessed in urine or serum. Markers for bone resorption include collagen degradation products, carboxyterminal telopeptide of type I collagen in serum (ICTP), N-telopeptide of type I collagen in serum and urine (NTX), noncollagenous proteins of the bone matrix (osteocalcin), and enzymes expressed and secreted by osteoclasts during bone resorption (Seibel 2005, 2006). Markers of bone formation are products of osteoblastic activity, which can be measured in serum. These include alkaline phophatase (ALP) and aminoterminal propeptide of type I collagen (PINP) (Seibel 2005, 2006). In adults, bone resorption markers are more useful in prediction of fractures than bone formation markers. The use of bone markers in pediatrics is not well established (Rauchenzauner et al. 2007).

2.5. Osteoporosis

Definition and prevalence of osteoporosis

Osteoporosis is characterized by low bone mass and microarchitectural deterioration of bone tissue, which lead to an increase in bone fragility and susceptibility to fracture (National Institutes of Health [NIH] 2001). In adults, the diagnosis of osteoporosis is usually based on BMD measurements by DXA. The preferred measurement sites are the lumbar spine from L1 or L2 to L4, the femoral neck, and total hip (Kanis and Glüer 2001). In adults, the measured BMD value is compared with the average of young healthy individuals and expressed as a T-score. In adults, osteoporosis is defined by the World Health Organization as BMD less than -2.5 SD below the normal mean (T-score < -2.5), as measured by DXA (WHO 2003). Osteopenia is defined as a T-score between -1.0 and -2.5.

Osteoporosis is a major public health concern. An estimated 30 000 – 40 000 osteoporotic fractures occur in Finland every year (Käypä hoito -suositus 2000), and these numbers are increasing with people getting older. The most serious consequence of osteoporosis is hip fracture, which is associated with a 20-30% mortality. Another 30% of patients with hip fracture have permanent deterioration of independent functional capacity. At the beginning of the century, the annual cost for a single hip fracture was approximately 15 000 \in (Nurmi et al. 2003). If a fracture led to permanent institutional care, the average cost increased by 2-3 fold.

Definition of osteoporosis in children

According to a recent statement of the International Society for Clinical Densitometry, in children and adolescents, the diagnosis of osteoporosis requires both the presence of a significant fracture history and low BMC or BMD (Rauch et al. 2008). Low BMC or BMD is defined as a Z-score less than or equal to -2.0, with the Z-score adjusted for age, gender, and body size of the child. Fracture history is considered significant if the child or adolescent has one or more of the following: 1) a long bone fracture of the

lower extremities, 2) vertebral compression fractures, or 3) two or more long-bone fractures of the upper extremities (Rauch et al. 2008).

The 2000 NIH Consensus Development Conference on Osteoporosis Prevention, Diagnosis, and Therapy identified bone mineral accretion during childhood as a critical determinant of osteoporosis later in life (NIH 2001). Chronic diseases, e.g. inflammatory diseases and hormonal disturbances, impaired physical activity, nutritional problems, and medication used in these conditions may have a negative effect on bone mineral accretion during childhood, and normal PBM may not be achieved (van der Sluis and de Muinck Keizer-Schrama 2001, Leonard and Zemel 2002, Sochett and Mäkitie 2005).

Primary osteoporosis

Osteoporosis can be divided into primary and secondary osteoporosis. In adults, primary it can further be subclassified into three types (Glaser and Kaplan 1997). First, classical osteoporosis is found in postmenopausal women and is due to decreased estrogen levels. Primary osteoporosis is also common in both elderly men and women and is due to aging. In idiopathic form, no reason for bone loss is apparent.

In childhood, osteogenesis imperfecta (OI) is the most common cause of primary osteoporosis. OI is a rare disease and can be divided to eight subtypes varying in severity (Rauch and Glorieux 2004). Most types are autosomal dominant and result from abnormalities in type I collagen synthesis or processing. The most severe forms cause perinatal death, while in mildest forms symptoms may be scarce. The diagnosis is based on clinical examination. Genetic testing, DXA, and bone biopsy may be helpful in setting a diagnosis (Bishop 2009).

Idiopathic juvenile osteoporosis (IJO) is a rare condition in which a previously healthy prepubertal child presents with vertebral and long bone fractures (Mughal 2009). The child may have difficulty in walking due to proximal muscle weakness and chronic pain. The etiology of IJO is likely to be multifactorial, and several genes may contribute. Osteoporosis-pseudoglioma syndrome is an autosomal recessive inherited

condition characterized by low bone mass, fragility fractures, and blindness (Mughal 2009). The condition is caused by homozygous loss-of-function mutations in the lowdensity lipoprotein receptor-related protein 5 (LRP5) gene (Gong et al. 2001). In a recent study by Hartikka et al. (2005), heterozygous mutations in *LRP5* were associated with primary osteoporosis in children.

Secondary osteoporosis

Secondary osteoporosis can be found in both adults and children. In secondary osteoporosis, bone loss is due to an illness, medications, or lifestyle factors. Secondary osteoporosis is more common in young adults and children than primary osteoporosis. Increasing evidence suggests that reduced bone mass is associated with increased fracture risk and osteoporosis not only in adults but also in chronically ill children (Clark et al. 2006). Causes and mechanisms of secondary osteoporosis in children are presented in Table 1. In disease, the normal balance of bone formation/bone resorption is disturbed, causing alterations in bone mass accrual.

Table 1. Causes of secondary osteoporosis in childhood. IL-1, interleukin 1; IL-6, interleukin 6; TNF, tumor necrosis factor. * *Mechanisms are disorderspecific*.

Condition	Disorders	Mechanism of osteoporosis
Inflammation	Juvenile idiopathic arthritis Inflammatory bowel disease Crohn's disease Cystic fibrosis Systemic lupus erythematosis Dermatomyositis Juvenile idiopathic arthritis	Glucocorticoids Inflammatory cytokines (IL-1, IL-6, IL-11, TNF)
Inadequate physical activity	Cerebral palsy Neuromuscular disorders Spina bifida Head/spinal cord injury	Lack of weight bearing Decreased muscle mass
Endocrine disorders	Turner syndrome Klinefelter syndrome Hypopituitarism Anorexia nervosa Hyperthyroidism Hyperparathyroidism Diabetes mellitus	*Estrogen deficiency Testosterone deficiency Growth hormone deficiency Estrogen deficiency, malnutrition Thyroxin excess Parathyroid hormone excess
Medications	Glucocorticoids Anticonvulsants Anticoagulants Cyclosporine A	Impaired osteoblast and osteoclast function Abnormal vitamin D metabolism
Nutritional deficiencies	Malnutrition Inadequate intake of calcium Malabsorption Celiac disease Lactose intolerance Anorexia nervosa	Inadequate vitamin D and calcium intake
Renal disorders	Chronic renal failure Nephrotic syndromes	Hyperparathryroidism
Hematological conditions	Thalassemia Hemophilia Sickle cell disease	
Others	Organ transplantation Tumors	Underlying disease, glucorticoids Chemotherapy, irradiation

2.6. Severe motor disability

Severe motor disability is common in children treated in pediatric neurology units. CP occurs approximately in 2/1000 live births (Surveillance of Cerebral Palsy in Europe 2002). Motor disability of CP patients is often accompanied by disturbances of sensation, perception, cognition, communication, and behavior, and by epilepsy (Rosenbaum et al. 2007). One-fifth of children with CP have severe intellectual deficit and are unable to walk (Surveillance of Cerebral Palsy 2002). Other diseases resulting in motor disability in childhood include e.g. neural tube defects, neuromuscular disorders, and various chromosomal anomalies leading to intellectual impairment and inability to move. Also brain and spinal cord injuries cause severe motor disability in childhood. According to a recent study from Switzerland, the prevalence of neural tube defects in liveborn children was 0.13/1000 (Poretti et al. 2008). The major group (70%) of these defects consisted of myelomeningocele (MMC). According to the Finnish Register of Congenital Malformations, the prevalence of neural tube defects during 1993-2006 in Finland was 7.4/10 000 births (available at www.stakes.fi). Recent estimates for the prevalence of genetic muscle diseases in the British population was 8.46/100 000 for dystrophinopathies and 1.87/100 000 for spinal muscular atrophy (SMA) (Norwood et al. 2009).

Classification of gross motor deficits

The Gross Motor Function Classification System (GMFCS) was developed to standardize and classify the level of motor disability and functional limitations in children with CP (Palissano et al. 1997). It is a five-level grading scale (Table 2) in which emphasis is on self-initiated movement during sitting, standing, and walking. GMFCS was initially developed for children with CP from 2 to 12 years. It was recently extended to adolescents (Palissano et al. 2008).

Table 2. Gross Motor Function Classification System (GMFCS).

GMITCS	
Level I	The child can walk without restrictions, but has limitations in more advanced motor skills.
Level II	The child is able to walk without assistive devices, but has limitations in walking outdoors and in the community.
Level III	The child walks with assistive mobility devices and has limitations in walking outdoors and in the community.
Level IV	The child is transported and self-mobility is limited. Power mobility is used outdoors and in the community.
Level V	Self-mobility is severely limited, even with the use of assistive technology.

2.7. Intellectual disability

CMECS

ID is caused by a disease, disorder, or damage affecting the brain. In the International Classification of Diseases (ICD-10) (WHO 2007), it is defined as a condition of arrested or incomplete development of the mind. ID is characterized by impairment of cognitive, language, motor, and social abilities, and manifests before the age of 18 years. The intelligence quotient (IQ) criterion for ID is <70 with a standardized intelligence test. ID is considered mild if IQ is from 50 to 69; moderate if IQ is from 35 to 49; severe if IQ is from 20 to 34; and profound if IQ is less than 20. The etiological factors for ID can be classified in many ways, but in general the factors can be divided into 1) genetic disorders, 2) central nervous system malformations, 3) external prenatal factors, 4) perinatal disorders, 5) postnatal disorders, and 6) disorders of unknown etiology (Wilska and Kaski 1999). ID is frequently associated with other disorders such as CP or other motor disability, visual or auditory impairment, impaired speech, eating and swallowing difficulties, and epilepsy (Arvio and Sillanpää 2003). The prevalence of ID in Finland in recent studies has been 0.7- 1.1% (Heikura et al. 2003, Westerinen et al. 2007).

2.8. Bone health in children with severe motor disability

In children with severe motor disabilities, reduced physical activity and decreased muscle mass and strength are obvious risk factors for secondary osteoporosis. Many of these children also have oral-motor difficulties and dysphagia, predisposing to feeding problems and suboptimal energy, calcium, and vitamin D intakes (Sullivan et al. 2000). The use of antiepileptic drugs is an additional risk factor for bone loss (Fitzpatrick 2004).

Some previous studies on bone quality and risk factors for osteoporosis and fractures in children with severe motor disability exist (Table 3). According to these earlier studies, low bone mass and fractures are frequent in children with motor disabilities. However, the results are not consistent, and the factors contributing to impaired bone health and the role of vitamin D in pathogenesis remain largely unknown.

Table 3, next page. Findings of some earlier studies in children with severe motor disability. BMD, bonemineral density; CP, cerebral palsy; GMFCS, gross motor function classification system; MMC,myelomeningocele; NA, not available; S-25-OHD, serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D; U-Ca urine calcium.

Inclusion criteria	Reference	Z	Mean age (range)	BMD (mean Z-score)	Fractures peripheral/ vertebral	S-25-OHD (nmol/L)	Risk factors for skeletal fragility
CP Quadriplegia	Henderson 1997	43	7.9	Spine -1.5	35% / NA	Mean 53	Previous fracture
GMFCS≥3	Henderson 2002	117	9.7	Femur <-2.0 in 77%	26% / NA	<50 in 53%	High GMFCS Low skin-fold thickness
GMFCS≥3	Henderson 2004	107	10.9	NA	31% / NA	NA	Feeding difficulty Anticonvulsants Low weight Z-score Prior fracture Anticonvulsants Feeding difficulty
Quadriplegia	King 2003	48	15	Spine -2.4	39% / NA	Mean 74	Age NA
GMFCS>3	Henderson 2005	69	NA	Longitudinal changes	NA / NA	NA	Low skin-fold thickness
GMFCS≥3	Stevenson 2006	364	9.3	NA	15.5% / NA	NA	Prior fracture High body fat
Quadriplegia Diplegia Hemiplegia	Leet 2006	418	10.6	NA	12% / NA	NA	Feeding tube Feeding tube Anticonvulsants Valproic acid Age
Duchenne	Larson 2000	41	10.3	-3.9	44% / 0%	NA	NA
	McDonald 2002	378	12	NA	20.9% / NA	NA	NA
	Bothwell 2003	33	11.5	NA	27% / 30%	NA	Steroid treatment
	King 2007	75	16.9	Spine -2.0	39% / 32%	NA	Steroid treatment
		68	14.4		27% / 0%		
MMC	Quan 1998	35	11.1	No fractures: -1.0 With fractures -3.1	23% / NA	NA	High U-Ca excretion

2.9. Bone health in adults with intellectual disability

Any long-term illness or disability in childhood may result in subnormal PBM with osteoporosis and susceptibility to fractures later in life (Sochett and Mäkitie 2005). Adults with ID living in residential care are known to be at risk for low BMD (Aspray et al. 1998, Center et al. 1998, Jaffe et al. 2005), and fractures occur 1.7-3.5 times more frequently in them than in the normal population (Tannenbaum et al. 1989, Lohiya et al. 1999). ID is often associated with other disorders, e.g. CP and other causes of reduced mobility and muscle weakness, epilepsy, feeding difficulties, and hypogonadism (Arvio and Sillanpää 2003, Bertoli et al. 2006a). In addition, adults with ID are at risk of vitamin D insufficiency due to lack of exposure to the sun, especially if institutionalized, and due to feeding difficulties and consequent nutritional deficiencies. Low BMD, as measured by QUS and defined as a BMD value more than 2 SD below young adult reference values, was found in 51% and 82% of institutionalized men (Jaffe and Timell 2003) and women (Jaffe et al. 2001), respectively, with ID.

Management of menstruation is often challenging in women with ID (Dizon et al. 2005). In Finland and in some other countries therapeutic amenorrhea induced by progestin has been a clinical practice for over 40 years (Lydecken 1966). In a recent Finnish study, this progestin- induced complete suppression of ovarian estrogen secretion was a significant risk factor for osteoporosis, suggesting that new strategies in the management of menstruation and gynecological follow-up should be considered in this population (Arvio et al. 2009).

2.10. Vitamin D

Several nutritional factors influence bone and mineral metabolism. Vitamin D has a key role in this metabolism. Optimal vitamin D status has been much debated in recent years, not only because of its role in bone health, but also due to the emergence of evidence of its function in many other tissues and association with various chronic conditions.

Vitamin D metabolism

Vitamin D is a fat-soluble vitamin. There are two forms of vitamin D: D2 or ergocalciferol, synthesized by plants, and D3 or cholecalciferol, synthesized by mammals (Holick 2004). Since the early 1920s, D2 has been produced industrially through ultraviolet exposure of foods and used as vitamin D supplementation. D3 was initially obtained from cod liver oil. Earlier, these two preparations were regarded as equal, but more recently this view has been questioned (Houghton and Vieth 2006). Today, most of the preparations used in both Finland and Europe contain D3; however, vitamin D drops used in Finland contain mainly D2. D3 is also used in fortification of foods.

In humans, vitamin D3 is synthesized in the skin with the help of ultraviolet B (UVB) radiation (Figure 5). In the skin, 7-dehydrocholesterol is transformed to previtamin D3, and further to vitamin D3, which binds to vitamin-D binding protein and is transported to the liver (Holick 2004). Vitamin D is metabolized in the liver by 25-hydroxylase enzyme to 25-hydroxyvitamin D3 (25-OHD, calcidiol). The production of 25-OHD is not significantly regulated, and activity of the circulating 25-OHD molecule depends on the amount of vitamin D binding protein. The lack of physiological regulation of 25-OHD makes its serum concentration a good indicator of vitamin D status. The half-life of 25-OHD is 20 - 30 days. (Vieth 1999, Holick 2004).

Calcidiol is hydroxylated in the kidney and other tissues to its biologically active form, 1,25 dihydroxyvitamin D3 [1,25(OH)₂D, calcitriol], by 1 α -hydoxylase (Holick 2004). The half-life of calcitriol is only a few hours. Negative feedback of 1,25(OH)₂D, PTH, serum phosphate, growth hormone, and estrogen regulate the formation of calcitriol. Hypocalcemia and vitamin D deficiency increase PTH secretion; this in turn increases the production of 1,25(OH)₂D (Holick 2004). The active metabolite enters the target cells and binds to vitamin D receptor (VDR) in the nucleus. The binding activates genes that are regulated by vitamin D and subsequently affects their protein production (Horst et al. 2005). 1,25(OH)₂D regulates expression of more than 200 target genes (Cannell and Hollis 2008). Vitamin D receptors are found in almost every tissue of the body, and the effects of the vitamin are dependent upon cell type (Holick 2004).

Absorption of calcium from the small intestine is facilitated by vitamin D. In good vitamin D status, active calcium transportation increases, while in poor vitamin D status calcium diffuses only passively. In the presence of low vitamin D concentration, calcium absorption from the intestine is inadequate, resulting in reduction of serum calcium concentration (Heaney et al. 1997). Low serum calcium stimulates excretion of PTH. PTH increases the production of calcitriol by activating 1 α -hydroxylase in the kidney. If 25-OHD is unavailable, calcium absorption from the intestine cannot increase. In this situation, serum calcium concentration can be maintained by mobilizing calcium from the skeleton (Heaney et al. 1997, Horst et al. 2005). This negative calcium balance has a deleterious impact on bone health and may result in rickets or osteomalacia and skeletal fragility. 25-OHD is the nutritional indicator of vitamin D homeostasis in serum because it is better correlated with calcium absorption than 1,25(OH)₂D in adults (Heaney et al. 1997, Horst et al. 2005).



Figure 5. Vitamin D metabolism. PTH, parathyroid hormone; 25-OHD, 25-hydroxyvitamin D; 1,25(OH)₂D, 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D.

Functions of vitamin D in the body

Skeletal effects

Vitamin D promotes calcium absorption from the intestine. Adequate vitamin D concentrations prevent bone loss and decrease fracture risk in the elderly (Dawson-Hughes et al. 1995, 1997). The optimal level for bone health in adults is >80 nmol/L (Dawson-Hughes et al. 2005). Higher 25-OHD concentration is associated with better lower-extremity function and decreased falls among elderly individuals (Bischoff-Ferrari et al. 2004a, 2004b, 2009) and better musculoskeletal function also in children (El-Hajj Fuleihan et al. 2006). A weak association between forearm BMD and S-25-OHD concentrations was found in Finnish 14- to 16-year-old females (Outila et al. 2001).

Nonskeletal effects

Conversion of 25-OHD to its active form occurs mainly in the proximal renal tubule, but also in bone, vascular smooth muscle cells, macrophages, parathyroid glands, prostate, colon, pancreas, brain, and testis. As a consequence, poor vitamin D status is associated with various chronic diseases, including type I diabetes mellitus, breast, prostate, and colon cancers, multiple sclerosis, hypertension, and heart disease, as well as with disorders of the immune system and infections (Cantorna et al. 2004, Holick 2004, Cannell et al. 2006).

Sources of vitamin D

The human body has two sources of vitamin D. It is obtained either from the diet or by cutaneous synthesis through the process initiated by ultraviolet radiation (290-315 nm) on the skin. However, UVB radiation is insufficient for adequate cutaneous vitamin D synthesis during the winter months beyond latitudes of 35° (Webb et al. 1988) (Figure 6). In Boston (42°N, corresponding to Rome in Europe) no cutaneous vitamin D synthesis was reported to occur between November and February, and in Edmonton (52°N, corresponding to London in Europe) the inactive period was even longer: from
September to March. Further south in Los Angeles, 34°N, and in Puerto Rico, 18°N, enough sunlight was adequate to photoconvert 7-hydrocholesterol to previtamin D3 even in January (Webb et al. 1988). In Finland (latitudes 60-70 °N), vitamin D synthesis can be poor even in summer months, especially in a rainy summer, in people with dark skin, those avoiding the sun or using sunscreens, and those with limited outdoor activities.

Below 35°, the angle of the sunlight is direct, and vitamin D3 synthesis can occur yearround, but above latitudes of 35° the angle is so oblique during the winter months that most UVB photons below 315 nm are absorbed by the ozone layer (Holick 2004). Further, because of the oblique angle of the sunlight, UVB radiation reaching the earth is reduced also early in the morning and in the late afternoon at higher latitudes, and very little if any vitamin D3 is produced in the skin even in the summer. In order to have vitamin D3 production in the skin, one should have sun exposure between 10 am and 3 pm during the spring, summer, and autumn (Holick 2004).



Figure 6. Map of latitudes. During the winter months vitamin D synthesis in the skin is practically absent in regions above latitudes of 35°.

The amount of 7-dehydrocholesterol and thus the capacity to produce vitamin D3 in the skin declines in the elderly; a 70-year-old makes 75% less vitamin D3 than a 20-year-old when exposed to the same amount of sunlight (Holick 2004). Sunscreens absorb UVB radiation. Sunscreen with a sun protection factor of 8 reduces the capacity of the skin to produce vitamin D3 by >95%, and with a sun protection factor of 15 the capacity is reduced by >98% (Holick 2004).

In the human body, vitamin D3 is thought to have higher bioavailability than vitamin D2. In addition, vitamin D3 is suggested to be more effective than vitamin D2 in maintaining 25-OHD values in humans (Trang et al. 1998, Armas et al. 2004). Vitamin D2 metabolites have a weaker binding affinity to vitamin D binding protein, and this leads to a shorter circulating half-life and faster clearance from circulation (Hollis 1984, Houghton and Vieth 2006). And, because not bound to binding proteins, vitamin D2 is thought to be more toxic than vitamin D3. Vitamin D3 is more stable than D2 (Trang et al. 1998). However, in a recent study by Holick et al. (2008) vitamin D2 was as effective as D3 in maintaining serum 25-OHD values.

Dietary sources of vitamin D

There are few sources of vitamin D3 in the diet. The main sources are fish, liver, egg yolk, some mushrooms, fortified margarines and spreads, and milk. Table 4 presents some food items and their vitamin D content.

The dietary guidelines for daily vitamin D intake have significantly changed over the years in Finland, from 2400-4000 IU (60-100 μ g) in 1940 to 200 IU (5 μ g) (in adults) in 2004. In 1964, the daily recommended dose for infants was reduced from 4000-5000 IU (100-125 μ g) to 2000 IU (50 μ g) (Hallman et al. 1964). The recommended dose was further reduced to 1000 IU (25 μ g) in 1975, and to 400 IU (10 μ g) in 1992 (Ala-Houhala et al.1995). After 2004, the recommended intake for children under 3 years and persons over 60 years, pregnant and lactating women, and other persons at risk has been 400 IU (10 μ g). For persons aged 3-60, years the recommended daily intake is 300 IU (7.5 μ g) (Finnish Nutrition Recommendations 2005). These guidelines are based on the Nordic Nutrition Recommendations (Nordic Council of Ministers 2004). In 2002, the

Scientific Committee on Food of the European Commission set the upper limit for daily vitamin D intake to 1000 IU (25 μ g) per day for children under 11 years and 2000 IU (50 μ g) per day from those aged 11 years to adulthood (Scientific Committee on Food 2002).

Because of poor dietary vitamin D intake and poor vitamin D status in Finland, the Ministry of Trade and Industry approved an increase in vitamin D fortification of foods at the beginning of 2003. Liquid dairy products, including milk, sour milk, and yoghurt, are fortified with 0.5 μ g (20 IU) /100 mL vitamin D3, and margarines and spreads are fortified with 10 μ g (400 IU) / 100 g. Despite these actions, a follow-up study in 2004 by Lamberg-Allardt et al. (2006) showed that vitamin D3 intake from food was insufficient in 4- to 6-year-olds, 13- to 14-year-olds, 14- to 17-year-old females, 29- to 37-year-olds, and 72- to 77-year-old females.

Product	Vitamin D content (µg / 100 mg)
Eel ¹	25.6
River lamprey ²	25.6
Pike perch ³	24.6
Whitefish, pollan, lavaret ⁴	22.0
Baltic herring	18.0
Chantarelle	12.8
Margarine	9.2
Salmon	8.9
Tuna	7.2
Egg Yolk	6.5
Lorchel ⁵	5.7
Mushroom milk caps ⁶	5.3
Boletus edible ⁷	2.9
Egg, boiled	2.2
Coalfish ⁸	1.5
Liver	0.8
Milk	0.5
Meat	0.2-0.5
Champignon	0.2

Table 4. Vitamin D content in selected food items. Source: National Food Database Fineli®, NationalPublic Health Institute, Finland.

Translation to Finnish: ¹ankerias, ²nahkiainen, ³kuha, ⁴siika, ⁵korvasieni, ⁶rousku, ⁷herkkutatti, ⁸seiti.

Optimal vitamin D status in adults

The definition of adequate vitamin D level has been widely discussed in recent years. In adults, the optimal level of 25-OHD is now considered to be >75 or 80 nmol/L (Dawson-Hughes 2005). This level is based on the inverse relationship between S-25-OHD and S-PTH. Studies in adults suggest that PTH levels begin to increase at S-25-OHD concentrations <50 nmol/L and that S-25-OHD concentration of about 80 nmol/L is needed to plateau PTH and prevent negative effects of hyperparathyroidism on bone (Chapuy et al. 1997, Dawson-Hughes et al. 2005).

Severe vitamin D deficiency resulting in rickets in children and osteomalacia in adults is associated with S-25-OHD levels <12.5 nmol/L (Pettifor 2005). Low vitamin D levels between 12.5 and 30 nmol/L have been associated with increased fracture risk in the elderly (LeBoff et al. 1999). There is no evidence of adverse effects with S-25-OHD concentrations <140 nmol/L, and the highest S-25-OHD obtained from sunshine was 225 nmol/L in a farmer in Puerto Rico (Vieth 1999). Outdoor workers have been demonstrated to have median concentrations of 122 nmol/L at the end of summer (Barger-Lux and Heaney 2002). Hypercalcemia and 25-OHD concentrations >220 nmol/L have been regarded as signs of vitamin D intoxication in people with erroneous consumption of extremely large amounts of vitamin D or with pharmacologic use, usually vitamin D2, from 20 000 to 600 000 IU/day (Vieth 1999).

Optimal vitamin D status in children

In children, the optimal serum concentration of 25-OHD has also recently been questioned. The Lawson Wilkins Pediatric Endocrine Society has recommended that vitamin D levels >50 nmol/L in children should be regarded sufficient (Misra et al. 2008) (Table 5). According to the same recommendation, 25-OHD levels <38 nmol/L are regarded as deficient. However, some studies in children and adolescents demonstrate a similar relationship between S-25OHD and P-PTH as in adults, suggesting that the desirable level also in children should be approximately 80 nmol/L (Guillemant et al. 1999, El-Hajj Fuleihan et al. 2001).

Children		Adults	
S-25-OHD (nmol/L)	Vitamin D status	S-25-OHD (nmol/L)	Vitamin D status
<12.5	Severe deficiency		
<37.5	Deficiency		
37.5-50	Insufficiency	< 50	Deficiency
50-250	Sufficiency	50-79.9	Insufficiency
		>80	Sufficiency

Table 5. Vitamin D status in children and adults (modified according to Dawson-Hughes et al.2005, and Misra et al. 2008).

S-25OHD, serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D.

Severe vitamin D deficiency

During childhood severe vitamin D deficiency causes rickets, muscle weakness, and hypocalcemia. Clinical symptoms are bowed legs, swollen growth plates at the end of long bones, enlargement of costochondral junctions in ribs, poor growth, delayed motor development, and hypotonia (Pettifor 2005). Rickets can only occur in the presence of unfused epiphyses. Therefore adults cannot suffer from rickets. In adults, vitamin D deficiency causes osteomalacia, which is characterized by failure of normal mineralization (Allgrove 2009).

2.11. Calcium and bone health

Calcium is essential for normal bone health at all ages. During childhood calcium is needed for skeletal growth and in adulthood for maintenance of bone mass and content. Inadequate calcium intake results in decreased calcium absorption in the intestine, low levels of ionized calcium, and increased secretion of PTH (Broadus 2003). PTH regulates blood calcium levels by releasing calcium from bone and also by stimulating

calcium reabsorption in the kidney. PTH also stimulates the renal synthesis of 1,25(OH)₂D, thus increasing intestinal calcium absorption (Broadus 2003).

Dietary calcium has been shown to have beneficial effects on bone mass at all ages, although the results are not always consistent. Findings in studies concerning dietary supplementation of calcium and its effects on BMD and fracture risk later in life are controversial. Results are dependent on various factors, including the amount of calcium supplement used, the timing of supplementation, and pubertal stage, and whether the study protocol used vitamin D supplement or not. Higher calcium intakes have been related to higher bone mass in children, young adults, and postmenopausal women in observational studies (Heaney 2000). Clinical trials with calcium supplements have also shown positive effects on bone mass in children and adolescents (Matkovic et al. 2004). Further, a positive correlation between consumption of dairy products in childhood and also in adulthood and higher BMD in adulthood has been observed (Murphy et al. 1994, Soroko et al. 1994, Kalkwarf et al. 2003). It is more beneficial for bone mass accrual to increase calcium intake by dairy products than by tablets containing a similar amount of calcium. Calcium is thought to be better absorbed in lower amounts from dairy products throughout the day than from larger amounts in pills twice a day (Cheng et al. 2005). Some studies have suggested that calcium supplements have no or only a small effect on BMD in childhood or on fracture risk later in life (Winzenberg et al. 2006).

The dietary recommendations for daily calcium intake in Finland are 540 mg in children under one year, 600 mg in children from one to five years, 700 mg in children from six to nine years, 900 mg in adolescents from 10 to 17 years, and 800 mg in adults (Finnish Nutrition Recommendations 2005).

Product	Calcium content (mg / 100 g)
Cheese	800
Nettle ¹	590
Sardine	430
Baltic herring	340
Soya beans	160
Milk	180
Yoghurt	150
Ice cream	150
Rainbow trout ²	130

 Table 6. Calcium content in some food items. Source: National Food Database Fineli®, National Public

 Health Institute, Finland.

Translation to Finnish: ¹nokkonen, ²kirjolohi.

2.12. Other nutritional factors and bone health

Adequate nutrition plays a major role in the prevention and treatment of osteoporosis. The most important micronutrients for bone health are vitamin D and calcium. However, several other minerals and vitamins, such as proteins, magnesium, phosphorus, potassium, fluoride, iron, copper, manganese, zinc, and vitamins A, K, and C are required for bone formation (Nieves 2005, Palacios 2006).

Protein is a part of the organic matrix of bone collagen structure. Proteins are also essential for production of hormones and growth factors involved in bone synthesis. Better protein intake has been shown to increase insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-I), which is osteotrophic (Palacios 2006). Inadequate protein intake is known to negatively affect bone health in the elderly by diminishing the ability to repair fractures. The suggested daily protein intake is 0.8 g/kg. Better nutritional status has been found to associate with better BMD also in children with motor disability (Henderson et al. 2005).

3. AIMS OF THE STUDY

The aim of this study was to evaluate factors associated with bone health in children with severe motor disability and in adults with intellectual disability. Specific objectives were:

- 1. to assess bone mineral density and prevalence of fractures,
- 2. to evaluate nutritional and other factors contributing to impaired bone health,
- 3. to analyze vitamin D status, and
- 4. to determine optimal vitamin D supplementation

in children with severe motor disability and in adults with intellectual disability.

4. PATIENTS AND METHODS

4.1. Study subjects

Children with severe motor disability at Päijät-Häme Central Hospital

The study group (study **I**, **II**) comprised Finnish children with severe motor disability aged 5 - 16 years, who were followed at Päijät-Häme Central Hospital, Lahti, Finland. The hospital serves as a referral center for a population of 210 000 (34 000 aged <16 years) in southern Finland. Approximately 1350 children are followed at the Department of Pediatric Neurology annually. Of the 64 eligible patients with severe motor disability, 59 (92%) consented to participate. The study included children with severe CP (N=36), MMC (N=7), neuromuscular disorders [including Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD), and SMA] (N=5), or various syndromes causing motor disability (N=11), and at least level II disability on the GMFCS. The study was carried out between 2005 and 2007.

Children with severe motor disability at Ruskeasuo School

Study **III** involved children and adolescents at Ruskeasuo School, the Developmental Center for Disabled Children, which is a state-owned school for children with motor disabilities, in Helsinki, Finland. Forty-four of the school's 114 students in spring term 2005 consented to participate in the prospective study. Neither vitamin D nor nutritional status, or the severity or the nature of the underlying condition was used as a selection criterion. The final study group included 25 males and 19 females, ranging in age from 9 to 18 years.

Adults with intellectual disability at Pääjärvi Nursing Homes

Finland was divided into 16 regional special welfare districts offering public services to inhabitants with ID in 2005. Pääjärvi Inter-Municipal Association was one of the districts. Pääjärvi, located in Lammi, southern Finland, served as a referral center for a population of 340 000. All adult residents (N=164) of the Pääjärvi Nursing Homes were

invited to participate (study **IV**). Altogether 145 residents (88%) consented to participate, 138 of whom completed the study. The study commenced in January 2005.

4.2. Methods

Study design

The study protocols were approved by the Hospital Research Ethics Committees of Päijät-Häme Central Hospital (**I**, **II**, **IV**) and Helsinki University Hospital (**III**). A written informed consent was obtained from all children with motor disability and from adults with ID, or from their parents/legal guardians. The National Agency for Medicines was informed of the protocol of Study **IV**. Table 7, page 51, summarizes the methods used in Studies **I-IV**.

In Studies **I and II**, the subjects were clinically examined at their annual follow-up visit at the Department of Pediatric Neurology, Päijät-Häme Central Hospital. Blood samples were collected and imaging studies carried out during the hospital visit. Clinical data were collected from hospital records and other information related to health and nutrition by questionnaires.

Two intervention studies with vitamin D were carried out at Ruskeasuo School (**III**) and at Pääjärvi (**IV**). Study **III** started by obtaining blood samples in the first week of March. The study cohort was then divided into two groups (Treatment group, N=21, and Control group, N=23) based on the measured baseline S-25-OHD concentration: the S-25-OHD values of each study subject were arranged in increasing order, and every other child was assigned to receive vitamin D. After this baseline evaluation, the Treatment group was given 1000 IU (25 μ g) of vitamin D3 (2.5 mL of Deetipat 400 IU/mL ®, Ferrosan, Espoo, Finland) perorally daily five days per week for 10 weeks. Peroral vitamin D was given by school staff during the school lunch to ensure compliance. The Control group (N=23) continued with their normal lunch program at school. All participants were advised to continue their regular diets and possibly ongoing additional vitamin supplements. Blood samples were obtained from all subjects at the end of the 10-week intervention period in late May.

In Study **IV**, the subjects were allocated to receive vitamin D3 either perorally 800 IU (20 μ g) per day for six months (cumulative dose approximately 144 000 IU) (PO group) or as a single intramuscular injection of 150 000 IU (3750 μ g) (D3-Vicotrat® 100 000 I.E. /1mL, Heyl Corp., Berlin, Germany) (IM group). Allocation was based on vitamin D status and gender only, aiming at similar baseline vitamin D and gender distribution in the two intervention groups. Peroral calcium (1000 mg/day) was given to all study subjects. The blood samples were repeated six months later. Only 138 (85%) subjects completed the study (72 in the PO group and 66 in the IM group); their results were used in the analysis.

Clinical assessment

Complete medical and surgical records were obtained. Parents filled detailed questionnaires on feeding difficulties, physical activity, and time spent outdoors and kept a three-day food diary (**I**, **II**). Height was measured in supine position and expressed in SD units (Z-score) by comparing the values with age-, and sex-specific normative data (Sorva et al. 1990). Weight in light clothing was measured with a digital scale and expressed as a percentage of sex- and height-specific reference values (**I**, **II**) (Sorva et al. 1990). Body mass index (BMI) was calculated as [weight / (height)²] and expressed in kg/m². Pubertal maturation was assessed according to Tanner (1962) (**I**, **II**).

Laboratory tests

Blood biochemistry was obtained for plasma (P) /serum (S) total calcium (P-Ca), phosphate (P-Pi), P-ALP, P-PTH, S-25-OHD, creatinine (P-Crea), S-IGF-I, and insulinlike growth factor binding protein 3 (S-IGFBP3), serum transferrin, prealbumin (S-Prealb), vitamin A, vitamin E, and for complete blood count, including hemoglobin concentration (B-Hb). In Study I, serum estradiol or testosterone, follicle-stimulating hormone, and lutenizing hormone were obtained for girls >8 years and for boys >10 years of age. Urine (U) was obtained for analysis of creatinine (U-Crea) and calcium (U-Ca). P-Ca, S-Ca-ion, P-Pi, P-ALP, P-Prealb, P-ALT, P-Crea, serum transferrin, S-Prealb, blood counts, U-Crea and, U-Ca were determined by standard assays. S-25-OHD was determined by radioimmunoassay in Studies I and II (IDS Inc., Fountain Hills, AZ, USA) and by high-performance liquid chromatography in Studies III and IV. The interassay coefficient of variation (CV) in Studies I and II at the level of 31 nmol/L was 5.1% and at 110 nmol/L, 6.0%. In Study III, the intra-assay CV at 21.6 nmol/L was 5.6% and at 63.8 nmol/L, 5.3%, and the inter-assay CV at 16.4 nmol/L was 7.3% and at 47.5 nmol/L, 6.3%. In Study IV, the intra-assay CVs were 8.9% at 30 nmol/L and 5.9% at 100 nmol/L, and inter-assay CVs 12.8% at 35 nmol/L and 8.8% at 105 nmol/L. An immunoluminometric assay was used to analyze P-PTH. The reference range for P-PTH was 0.8-7.5 pmol/L (8-75 ng/L) (I-IV).

S-PINP and S-ICTP were measured by competitive Radio Immuno Assay (UniQ PINP/ICTP RIA \circledast , Orion Diagnostica, Espoo, Finland) (**III**). The reference ranges for S-PINP and S-ICTP were age- and sex-dependent, and were for S-PINP from 400 to 800 µg/L and for S-ICTP from 4 to 20 µg/L (Crofton et al. 1997).

Radiological evaluation

Assessment of bone age and spinal radiographs

Hand-wrist x-rays were obtained to determine bone age (I) (Greulich and Pyle 1959). Standard anteroposterior and lateral spinal radiographs were obtained (I) and evaluated for vertebral morphology according to a pediatric scoring method (Mäkitie et al. 2005). This method was developed for evaluation of vertebral morphology and vertebral fractures in childhood secondary osteoporosis. The morphological changes were classified as normal anterior wedge deformities (grade 0, 1a, 1b, and 1c) when only the anterior part of the vertebra was compressed. The changes were considered abnormal compression deformities if also the middle and/or posterior part of the vertebra was compressed. These abnormal changes were further classified as mild (2a; anterior height reduction 20-49%) or severe (2b; anterior height reduction \geq 50%) anterior wedge deformities (Mäkitie et al. 2005).

Bone densitometry

BMD of the lumbar spine L2-L4 was measured with DXA (Lunar Prodigy 2000, GE Lunar Corp., Madison WI, USA) (I). Standard scanning procedures were used. Most patients received diazepam or midazolam prior to the measurement to minimize motion artifact. Areal BMD (aBMD) values were transformed into Z-scores by comparing them with age- and sex-specific reference values (van der Sluis 2002). To correct aBMD values (g/cm²) for bone size, apparent volumetric bone mineral density BMAD (g/cm³) values were calculated from aBMD using the equation BMAD = aBMD x [4/ (π x width)] (Kröger et al. 1993). In this equation, width signifies the mean width of the measured area of the vertebral column (L2-L4).

The calculated BMAD values were transformed into Z-scores by comparing them with age- and sex-specific reference values (van der Sluis et al. 2002). Bone age instead of chronological age was used for all BMD values when determining Z-scores if calendar age and bone age differed by more than one year. The lumbar BMD values were omitted from the analyses if compression deformities were present in the measurement area. In MMC patients, the lumbar BMD was analyzed using the measurement area outside the lumbar defect.

Nutritional assessment

Parents or guardians (**I**, **II**) or school staff members (**III**) were asked to keep three-day or one-week food diaries, recording the trade names and amounts of all consumed food items and beverages. On the basis of these recordings, the average daily nutrient intakes were calculated for each patient using the computer program DIET32, version 1.4.4.1 (Aivo Finland Corp., Turku, Finland). The median energy and various nutrient intakes were calculated and compared with age- and sex-specific national nutrition guidelines (Finnish Nutrition Recommendations 2005).

	Study I	Study II	Study III	Study IV
DXA	Х			
Vertebral morphology	х			
Bone age X-ray	х			
Food diary	х	х	Х	
Pubertal stage	х			
BMI	х	х		Х
Biochemical parameters	Х	Х	х	Х
Vitamin D intervention			Х	Х

 Table 7. Methods used in Studies I-IV.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed with Statistical Package for Social Sciences for Windows version 13.0 (III) and version 15.0 (I, II, IV) (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). A P-value of less than 0.05 was considered significant. Mann-Whitney U-test (I - III) and T-test (IV) were used to compare variables between the groups. Chi-square test was used for categorical data (I, II, IV). Pearson's correlation coefficient was used to assess correlations (I - III). Wilcoxon signed-ranks test was applied to assess longitudinal changes within groups (III). In Study I, possible predictors for fractures and low BMAD were evaluated by logistic regression analysis.

5. RESULTS

5.1. Bone health and its determinants in children with motor disability (I, II)

Bone mineral density

DXA results were corrected for pubertal development by using bone age instead of calendar age in 11 patients (19%) with advanced bone age and in 11 patients with delayed bone age. The median Z-score for lumbar spine BMD was -1.7 (range -3.7 - \pm 1.0) and for lumbar spine BMAD -1.0 (range -5.0 - \pm 2.0). The BMD Z-score was <-2.0 in 21 children (39%) and the BMAD Z-score was <-2.0 in 11 children (20%). No significant correlations were found between lumbar spine BMAD Z-score and S-25-OHD, P-PTH, P-Ca, or P-Pi levels or calcium and vitamin D intakes.

The median BMAD Z-score did not differ between those with moderate motor disability (N=26) (GMFCS II or III; -0.6, range -3.0 - +1.0) and those with severe motor disability (N=33) (GMFCS IV or V; -1.0, range -3.0 - 1.8; P = 0.28). The median BMAD Z-score in children with antiepileptic medication (N=28) was -0.7 (range -4.8 -+1.8) and in those without medication (N=31) -1.0 (range -3.0 -+1.0) (P = 0.63).

Fractures

Altogether 10 children (17%) had sustained 14 peripheral fractures (1-3 fractures each) (Table 8). Most of the fractures (in 6 subjects) occurred between 4 and 12 years and involved the lower limbs (four femur and three tibia fractures). All of these fractures occurred after a minor trauma, such as straining a leg (2), falling from a chair (4), or stumbling on the floor (4), or without a known trauma.

Compression fractures were found in 14 of the 55 patients (25%) for whom radiographs were available (Figure 7). Only one child had been diagnosed with a spinal fracture before the study. Most of the compression fractures were in the thoracic region. One

boy with DMD had multiple thoracic fractures and one lumbar fracture. In eight subjects, the fractures were classified as mild anterior wedge deformities (grade 2a), in two subjects as severe anterior wedge deformities (grade 2b), and in four subjects as mild compression deformities (grade 3a). Peripheral fractures were also seen in four patients with grade 2a (2 patients), 2b (1 patient), or 3a (1 patient) thoracic fractures.



Figure 7. Compression fractures in three children with motor disability. (A) Two grade 2a compression fractures. (B) One grade 2a compression fracture. (C) Three compression fractures (2a, 3a, and 3a). Compressed vertebrae are marked with asterisks. Reprinted from Kilpinen-Loisa et al. 2009 with the permission of Wiley-Blackwell.

Diagnosis	Patients wit	h fractures	Spinal	Peripheral
	Ν	%	fractures	fractures
Cerebral palsy	9/36	25	7	5
Neuromuscular disorder	5/5	100	4	1
Myelomeningocele	1/7	14	NA	1
Chromosomal anomaly	4/9	45	2	3
Unknown	1/2	50	1	-

Table 8. Etiology of disability and presence of fractures.

NA, not assessed

No differences were observed in age and gender distribution or in anthropometric characteristics in children with (N=20) and without (N=39) spinal and/or peripheral fractures. The median BMAD Z-score was significantly lower in patients with fractures (-1.7, range -5.0 – 0.0) than in those without fractures (-0.6, range -2.9 - +1.8) (P = 0.004).

In logistic regression analyses, both low BMAD and hypercalciuria were significant predictors for fractures, with OR 9.82 (95% CI from 1.32 to 72.89) and OR 8.21 (95% CI from 1.32 to 51.05), respectively.

Diagnosis of osteoporosis

According to the previously established criteria for osteoporosis in children (Rauch 2008), the diagnosis could be made for 10 of the 59 children (17%). Table 9 shows the clinical characteristics of these 10 children.

not ava.	ilable; SMA,	spinal muscular atr	ophy; S-250F	HD, serum 25	-hydroxyvitan	nin D.					
Age (yrs)	Gender	Etiology	GMFCS	BMI (kg/m ²⁾	Epilepsy	Vitamin D intake (µg)	S-25OHD (nmol/L)	Hyper- calciuria	Energy intake	BMAD Z-score	Peripheral / Vertebral fractures
9.8	ц	MMC	III	15.5	ou	NA	32	no	NA	-3.5	yes / no
6.3	Μ	Tetraplegy	Λ	15.6	yes	NA	104	no	NA	-3.4	no / yes
12.9	Μ	DMD	IV	14.2	ou	5.5	34	yes	74	-3.4	no / yes
5.7	М	Hemiplegy	IV	15.9	yes	4.5	57	no	82	-3.3	yes / yes
13.5	ц	Chromosomal	Λ	18.4	yes	9.0	85	yes	42	-3.1	yes / yes
11.3	Μ	anomary Tetraplegy	Λ	13.6	no	7.1 *	40	no	55	-2.9	yes / yes
5.5	Μ	Chromosomal	IV	17.8	yes	14	83	yes	75	-2.8	no / yes
11.1	Ц	anomary SMA	IV	19.9	no	8.0 *	72	yes	58	-2.6	yes / NA
13.2	Μ	Diplegy	II	15.2	ou	NA	57	no	NA	-2.0	yes / no
13.2	Μ	Chromosomal anomaly	IV	13.5	yes	6.7	71	NO	54	-2.0	no / yes

Table 9. Characteristics of 10 subjects with a diagnosis of osteoporosis. * used a vitamin D supplement; ** % of age-specific recommendation; BMAD, bone mineral apparent density; BMI, body mass index; DMD, Duchenne muscular dystrophy; GMFCS, gross motor function classification system; MMC, myelomeningocele; NA,

Biochemical findings

The biochemical values in 54 children are presented in Table 10. The median S-25-OHD was 45 nmol/L. S-25-OHD was consistent with vitamin D insufficiency (<50 nmol/L) in 20 patients (34%) and with vitamin D deficiency (<37.5 nmol/L) in 15 (25%) patients. Only 4 patients (7%) had a S-25-OHD value >80 nmol/L. P-PTH was supranormal in 5 children (8%). The medians for the other biochemical parameters were within the normal range. All hormonal values were appropriate for Tanner stage.

Table 10. Biochemical findings in 54 children with severe motor disability. Results as medians (range).

Measured parameter	Results	Reference range
S-25-OHD (nmol/L)	45.0 (18-85)	>80
P-PTH (pmol/L)	4.0 (1.2-33.0)	1.0-7.5
P-Ca (mmol/L)	2.38 (2.04-2.75)	2.05-2.70
P-Pi (mmol/L)	1.44 (0.91-1.70)	1.10-1.80
P-ALP (U/L)	210 (40-719)	115-445
U-Ca/U-Crea (mmol/L /mmol/L)	0.33 (0.02-2.91)	<0.70
S-IGFBP3 (mg/L)	3.7 (1.4-6.0)	1.0-9.6
S-IGF-I (nmol/L)	18 (4-57)	7-129

P-ALP, plasma alkaline phosphatase; P-Ca, plasma calcium; U-Ca, urine calcium; U-Crea, U-creatinine; S-IGF-I, serum insulin-like growth factor I; S-IGFBP3, serum insulin-like growth factor binding protein 3, P-Pi, plasma phosphate; P-PTH, plasma parathyroid hormone; S-25OHD, serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D.

Hypercalciuria

Altogether 16 children had hypercalciuria (U-Ca/U-Crea ≥ 0.70): 10 (50%) of those with any fracture and 6 (15%) of those without fractures (P = 0.01). There were no significant differences in the median intakes of calcium or the median BMD Z-scores between the groups with or without hypercalciuria. However, the median BMAD Z-score was significantly lower in children with hypercalciuria than in children without

hypercalciuria (-1.2 vs. -0.7, P = 0.03). Presence of hypercalciuria was identified as an independent risk factor for fractures (OR 7.16; 95% CI from 1.65 to 31.05).

Nutrition

Three-day food diaries were obtained from 54 subjects (Study **II**). Results of nutrient intakes essential for bone health are presented in Table 11. The median calcium intake, including supplements, was 142% of the recommended dietary intake, or 1123 mg (range 417-2051 mg). Four children received calcium supplementation of 400-500 mg/day. The daily calcium intake was on average good, and the median intake exceeded the recommendation in all age groups, but only in the youngest age group did all children receive sufficient calcium. Vitamin D intake was poor, 5.9 μ g/day (range 2.5-20 μ g/day), which is only 76% of the recommended intake. This vitamin D intake included vitamin D supplementation 2.5-10 μ g/day in nine children. Intake of phosphate and vitamin A tended to be high.

	Energy (kcal)	Energy (E%)	Protein (g)	Protein (E%)	Vitamin D (µg)	Calcium (mg)	Phosphorus (mg)
Age 2-5 y, FNR	1625			10-15	7.5	600	470
N=9	1339 (1150-1949)	82 (70-119)	55 (30-81)	16 (10-21)	4.5 (2.7-14)	863 (679-1391)	1084 (593-1560)
Age 6-9 y, FNR	1790				7.5	700	540
N=13	1657 (975-1887)	92 (53-105)	71 (34-90)	17 (14-20)	5 (2.5-14)	1163 (417-1700)	1261 (741-1775)
Girls 10-15 y, FNR	2010-2150				7.5	006	200
N=15	1687 (900-2020)	79 (42-100)	66 (25-103)	16 (11-21)	9 (3-18)	1320 (540-2051)	1428 (450-2188)
Boys 10-15 y, FNR	2340-2700				7.5	006	700
N=17	1522 (963-2328)	65 (41-99)	61 (38-95)	17 (12-20)	6 (3-20)	1123 (464-1697)	1343 (859-2094)
All age groups total intake (%) FNR		100			100	100	100
N=54		76		17	76	142	202

The proportions of energy intake were similar in the group of children with an energy intake of over 80% and in those with an energy intake less than 80% of the age-specific recommendation (Table 12). The shares of protein and fat intake exceeded recommendations (recommendation for protein intake is 10-15E% and for fat intake <30E%) in both groups. BMD Z-score was significantly lower in children with a smaller energy intake, while no difference was present in BMAD Z-scores. Fractures were more common in children with lower energy intake. Intakes of calcium were also smaller in children with low energy intake.

	Energy intake < 80%	Energy intake ≥ 80%	P-value
	of recommendation	of recommendation	
	N=31	N=23	
Fractures (N)	12 (39%)	4 (17%)	0.08
BMAD Z-score	-1.1 (-4.8-1.8)	-0.5 (-3.3-1.4)	0.19
BMD Z-score	-2.0 (-3.0-1.0)	-1.3 (-4.0-1.0)	0.04
GMFCS score	4.0 (2-5)	3.0 (2-5)	0.01
Height Z-score	-1.5 (-6.5-0.2)	-0.8 (-3.0-0.7)	0.02
Adjusted weight (%)	-8 (-33-105)	-3 (-22-32)	0.69
BMI (kg/m^2)	14.5 (11.4-36.7)	15.7 (14-23)	0.55
S-25-OHD (nmol/L)	41 (18-85)	49 (32-73)	0.41
P-PTH (pmol/L)	4.3 (1.2-33)	3.4 (1.8-9.9)	0.35
S-Ca (mmol/L)	2.42 (2.07-2.75)	2.37 (2.00-2.50)	0.16
B-Hb (g/L)	134 (104-152)	129 (113-156)	< 0.01
S-Prealb (g/L)	0.21 (0.10-0.30)	0.19 (0.12-0.31)	0.43
Intakes of nutrients			
Carbohydrates (E%)	51 (30-68)	49 (28-59)	0.12
Protein (E%)	16 (10-21)	17 (13-21)	0.22
Fat (E%)	31 (19-52)	33 (20-54)	0.34
Saturated fat (E%)	12 (4-19)	13 (5-21)	0.27
Vitamin D (µg)	6 (2.5-20)	7 (3-15)	0.18
Iron (mg)	8.5 (4.6-18.4)	10.0 (5.8-26.4)	< 0.01
Phosphorus (mg)	1103 (450-2063)	1459 (873-2188)	< 0.01
Fiber (g)	11.8 (4.8-31.6)	14.8 (8.2-21.7)	< 0.01
Calcium (mg)	878 (417-1697)	1320 (714-2050)	< 0.01

Table 12. Differences in characteristics between children with energy intake < 80% and $\ge 80\%$ of age-specific recommendation. Results presented as medians (range).

BMAD, bone mineral apparent density; BMD, bone mineral density; BMI, body mass index; S-Ca, serum calcium; GMFCS, gross motor function classification system; B-Hb, blood haemoglobin concentration; S-Prealb, serum prealbumin; P-PTH, plasma parathyroid hormone; S-25OHD, serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D

5.2. Vitamin D interventions (III, IV)

Serum 25-OHD concentrations were low in all groups at baseline: vitamin D deficiency (defined as <37.5 nmol/L in children and <50 nmol/L in adults) was present in 36% of children and 77% of adults. After the two-month intervention period, no children had vitamin D deficiency in the treatment group, while 52% of the untreated children were deficient at the beginning of the summer. In adults with ID, the sixmonth supplementation resulted in vitamin D deficiency in 1% and 24% of subjects in the PO and IM groups, respectively. After the intervention, S-25-OHD levels were over 80 nmol/L in 19% of treated children. The corresponding figures in adults were 42% in the PO group and 12% in the IM group. The distribution of vitamin D status in children with motor disability and adults with ID is presented in Table 13.

	Children (III)			Adults (IV)		
	Whole group (N=44)	PO group (N=21)	No supplement (N=23)	PO+IM group (N=138)	PO group (N=72)	IM group (N=66)
OHD (nmol/L)	Baseline	After	After	Baseline	After	After
				1% (1)		
37.9	36% (16)		52% (12)	46% (64)		
6.	25% (11)	29% (6)	22% (5)	30% (42)	1% (1)	24% (16)
6.	34% (15)	52% (11)	26% (6)	21% (29)	57% (41)	64% (42)
	5% (2)	19% (4)		2% (2)	42% (30)	12% (8)

IM, intramuscular; PO, peroral; S-250HD, serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D

Table 13. Distribution of vitamin D status before and after interventions in Studies III and IV.

Vitamin D intervention in children with motor disability

Biochemical parameters in the intervention studies at baseline and after interventions are presented in Table 12. At baseline, the median S-25-OHD in Study **III** was 44 (range 26 – 82) nmol/L. The median P-PTH was 33 (6–106) ng/L; it was above 60 ng/L in only one patient. P-PTH tended to be higher in patients with S-25-OHD less than 50 nmol/L than in those with greater S-25-OHD, but the correlation was not statistically significant. None of the subjects had subnormal P-Ca. P-ALP was within age- and sex-specific reference values in all study subjects. S-ICPT was above age-specific reference values in nine subjects (20%), and S-PINP in one subject; all other values were normal.

In the Treatment group, the 10-week supplementation resulted in a significant increase in the median S-25-OHD concentration, from 46 to 56 nmol/L (P = 0.012). A modest but statistically nonsignificant decrease in mean P-PTH concentration was observed. In the Control group, the median S-25-OHD level even decreased significantly during the intervention period. No significant changes were observed in P-PTH. At the end of the intervention period, S-25-OHD concentrations differed significantly in the two groups, while no other significant differences were observed in biochemical parameters. The increased S-25OHD level in the Treatment group was not associated with an increase in P-Ca concentration; P-Ca remained within the normal range in all subjects throughout the study. No differences between the groups were observed in bone turnover markers.

Vitamin D intervention in adults with intellectual disability

In Study **IV**, no significant differences in biochemical values of adults were seen between the PO and IM groups at baseline (Table 14). The means for S-25-OHD were 40 nmol/L and 41 nmol/L (P=0.62), and for P-PTH, 51 ng/L and 54 ng/L (P=0.43), in the PO and IM groups, respectively. Mild hypercalcemia without clinical symptoms was present in 0 and 2 patients and hyperphosphatemia in 3 and 4 patients in the PO and IM groups, respectively.

In the PO group, the mean S-25-OHD at 6 months was 82 nmol/L (P<0.001) for the change from baseline). P-PTH decreased significantly and was on average 33 ng/L (P<0.001); four patients had supranormal P-PTH, while P-PTH was <12 ng/L in five. S-Ca and S-Pi also increased significantly (P<0.05); S-Ca was supranormal in six (8%) and S-Pi was supranormal in 10 (14%). S-ALP decreased significantly and was on average 74 U/L at 6 months (P<0.05).

In the IM group, a significant improvement in S-25-OHD was also observed: the mean S-25-OHD increased from 41 nmol/L to 62 nmol/L (P<0.001). Eight subjects (12%) had a S-25-OHD concentration >80 nmol/L and one >100 nmol/L, while 16 subjects (12%) had S-25-OHD <50 nmol/L. The mean P-PTH decreased significantly to 34 ng/L (P<0.001); it remained supranormal in one patient and was <12 ng/L in three subjects. S-Ca and S-Pi increased significantly (P<0.05), but no supranormal S-Ca values were measured; S-Pi was supranormal in 14 patients (21%). S-ALP remained unchanged.

After the treatment, 38 patients (27%) had S-25-OHD >80 nmol/L and 15 (11%) had S-25-OHD >100 nmol/L. Three of those with S-25-OHD >100 nmol/L had P-PTH <12 ng/L, all in the PO group. S-25-OHD >100 nmol/L was associated with hypercalcemia in 2 and hyperphosphatemia in 6 subjects. Subjects with S-25-OHD >100 nmol/L had smaller BMI and were lighter than subjects with lower S-25-OHD, the mean BMI being 20.5 kg/m² and 24.4 kg/m² (P=0.017) and the mean weights 51.9 kg and 67.5 kg (P=0.002), respectively.

Biochemical parameters at baseline and after interventions (Studies III-IV). Values are presented as means (SD). P-ALP, plasma alkaline phosphatase, P/S-	a/serum calcium; IM, intramuscular group; P/S-Pi, plasma/serum phosphate; PO, peroral group; P-PTH, plasma parathyroid hormone; S-250HD, serum 25-	tamin D. $*$ refers to significant difference between the groups after the intervention.	
Table 14. Biocl	Ca, plasma/seru	nydroxyvitamin	

	Children (III) in March Baseline Treatment group N-21	Control group N-23	Children (III) in May After treatment Treatment group	Control group	Adults (IV) in Janu; Baseline PO group N=72	ary IM group N=66	Adults (IV) in June After treatment PO group	IM group
S-25-OHD (nmol/L)	46.9 (16.2)	49.4 (27.2)	60.1 (16.1)	41.8 (14.0)*	39.9 (13.5)	41.0 (12.5)	81.6 (20.7)	61.6 (15.1)*
P-PTH (,1/gn)	36.1 (20.6)	32.0 (11.8)	32.0 (19.9)	33.0 (14.1)	50.9 (23.0)	54.2 (26)	33.2 (18.0)	33.9 (15.9)
P/S-Ca	2.39 (0.09)	2.41 (0.07)	2.43 (0.08)	2.43 (0.05)	2.28 (0.08)	2.30 (0.10)	2.35 (0.12)	2.33 (0.09)
P/S-Pi	1.34 (0.18)	1.25 (0.19)	1.25 (0.19)	1.28 (0.18)	1.12 (0.18)	1.12 (0.21)	1.24 (0.17)	1.23 (0.23)
S-ALP	181 (79)	203 (90)	202 (92)	216 (91)	80 (37)	86 (32)	74 (29)	86 (41)*

6. DISCUSSION

6.1. Clinical significance and therapeutic implications

Osteoporosis and low BMD in children with motor disability

Our results show that a significant proportion of children with severe motor disability have subnormal bone mass and fractures and hence fulfill the diagnostic criteria for secondary osteoporosis. We found low (Z-score <-2.0) BMD or BMAD in 36% and 19%, of the 59 studied children with severe motor disability, respectively. The proportion of patients with low BMD has been even greater in some earlier studies. Henderson et al. (2002) reported that BMD Z-score in the distal femur was <-2.0 in up to 77% of subjects with moderate to severe CP. In another study involving children and adults with spastic quadriplegia, with an age range from 5 to 48 years, 58% had a Zscore <-2.0 (King et al. 2003). These discrepancies could be due to differences in the measurement site: in a group of children with moderate to severe CP more significant BMD reduction was observed in the distal femur relative to the spine (mean BMD Zscore -3.5 ± 0.2 vs. -2.0 ± 0.1) (Henderson et al. 2002). The proximal hip has been regarded as an unreliable BMD measurement site in children, and lumbar spine and whole body, excluding the head, are the preferred measurement sites (Gordon et al. 2008). In contrast to several earlier studies, we corrected all BMD measurements for bone size and bone age, and therefore, the results are likely to give a more accurate estimate of the proportion of subjects with subnormal BMD.

In our study, the median BMAD Z-score was significantly lower in patients with fractures (-1.7, range -5.0 - 0.0) than in those without fractures (-0.6, range -2.9 - +1.8) (P = 0.004). This is consistent with an earlier study on patients with severe CP: patients with a history of fracture had significantly lower lumbar spine BMD Z-scores than those without fractures, the mean BMD being -2.8 ± 0.3 and -2.1 ± 0.3 , respectively (King et al. 2003). In a logistic regression model, low BMAD could be identified as a significant predictor for fractures, those with a BMAD Z-score < -1.5 having an almost 10-fold risk for fracture.

No earlier prevalence studies using the recently established criteria of childhood osteoporosis exist (Rauch et al. 2008). Based on BMD and fracture history, altogether 17% of the children with motor disability were diagnosed as having osteoporosis. This finding implies that children with motor disability comprise a major risk group for secondary osteoporosis.

All five children in the subgroup of neuromuscular disorders had a positive fracture history. Osteoporosis could be diagnosed in one boy with DMD and in one girl with SMA. In an earlier longitudinal study involving boys with DMD, BMD was subnormal already long before the boys lost their ability to move and spinal BMD Z-score further decreased from -0.8 to -1.7 and femoral BMD from -1.6 to -3.9 with loss of ambulation (Larson and Henderson 2000). The boy with DMD and osteoporosis in our cohort was able to walk despite having multiple spinal fractures. Impaired muscle strength and low muscle mass, in addition to bone loading, are likely to play a role in the maintenance of normal bone mass in muscular dystrophies. The complexity of bone formation and degradation and bone development is also reflected in a study involving children with MMC, which suggested that overall physical inactivity may have a systemic effect on bone formation, as BMD in children with MMC was not reduced only in the lower limbs but also in the distal radius (Quan et al.1998). Further, no differences were present between ambulants and nonambulants. Our study included 7 children with MMC, and osteoporosis was diagnosed in one of them.

No significant correlations were found between lumbar spine BMAD Z-score or fractures and S-25-OHD, P-PTH, and P-Pi levels, or calcium and vitamin D intakes. In children with fracture, the median P-Ca was higher than in those without fractures. The overall vitamin D levels were very low, and probably because of this uniformly suboptimal vitamin D status, we failed to show significance of vitamin D for fractures. We did not find any differences in vitamin D levels, lumbar BMAD Z-scores, or fracture rate between children with and without antiepileptic medication.

Fractures in children with motor disabilities

Altogether 34% (20/59) of the children had a history of one or several fractures. Fractures are common also in healthy children. According to a Swedish study, up to 42% of healthy boys and 27% of healthy girls sustain at least one fracture before the age of 17 years; the incidence peaks during puberty (Landin 1983). Here the fractures occurred evenly throughout childhood, with no evidence for a specific age of increased susceptibility. Further, lower limb fractures (70% of peripheral fractures) and spinal fractures predominated, and the fractures were often due to minimal trauma. This is consistent with earlier studies in children with motor disability. Previous studies have shown a fracture prevalence of 21-44% in these children (Larson and Henderson 2000, Henderson et al. 2002, McDonald et al. 2002). Lower limb fractures dominated, while most fractures in healthy children occur in the upper extremity (Landin 1983, Cheng and Shen 1993, Larson and Henderson 2000, McDonald et al. 2002). In a North American study, children with CP had a fracture rate of 4.0 per 100 per year (Stevenson et al. 2006), whereas the fracture rate in normal children in Scandinavia was <2.0 per 100 (Lyons et al. 2000). In children with spastic quadriplegia, the fracture rate did not differ between those with low and very low spinal BMD during a four-year follow-up, and low BMD in the lumbar spine did not predict fracture risk (Henderson 1997). In children with DMD, the peak of fracture incidence was reported to occur at 8-11 years (McDonald et al. 2002). Our findings are parallel to these observations. Fractures can be regarded as a sign of significantly impaired bone health, and several factors, including impaired weight-bearing, reduced muscle mass and strength, and potential hormonal disturbances, are likely to contribute to fractures in children with severe motor disability.

Vertebral fractures are a sign of abnormal bone quality. We found compression fractures in 25% of children, which is more than in other chronic conditions in children. Previous studies applying a similar methodology for vertebral fracture detection found compression fractures in 8% of children with renal transplantation, in 10% of steroid-treated children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis, in 20% of children with allogeneic stem cell transplantation, and in 18% of children with liver transplantation (Taskinen et al. 2007, Valta et al. 2007, 2008, 2009). Earlier studies of children with CP found no spinal compression fractures, which might be due to lack of systematic screening (Henderson 1997, Henderson et al. 2002, Stevenson et al. 2006, Mergler et al. 2009). Another study showed that DMD boys on long-term glucocorticoid treatment had a 32% incidence of vertebral compression fractures (King et al. 2007).

Bisphosphonates are increasingly used in children, but the indications and optimal dosing and treatment duration have not yet been established. According to a recent paper, a vertebral compression fracture should be regarded as an indication for bisphosphonate therapy (Bachrach and Ward 2009).

We found hypercalciuria to be an independent risk factor for fractures, with a 7-fold fracture risk. Hypercalciuria was found in 50% of those with fractures, compared with 15% in those without. In children with severe motor disabilities and low muscle mass, serum and urine creatinine levels may be low, and thus, U-Ca/U-Crea may not be an optimal measure for calcium excretion; hypercalciuria may reflect low muscle mass rather than increased calcium excretion. In our study, only 2/16 children with hypercalciuria had S-Crea under the age-specific reference value (11 μ mol/L and 23 μ mol/L). Since we did not measure whole-body DXA to evaluate body composition, we do not know the amount of muscle mass in these children. However, patients with fractures also had a higher S-Ca concentration than those without. These findings suggest that hypercalciuria may be secondary to immobilization, reflecting abnormal bone metabolism and impaired utilization of calcium.

Vitamin D deficiency and optimal vitamin D dosing

Based on our findings, vitamin D deficiency and insufficiency are alarmingly common in Finnish children with severe motor disabilities and adults with ID. Vitamin D deficiency (defined as <37.5 nmol/L in children and <50 nmol/L in adults) was present in 36% of children and 77% of adults. Altogether 95% of children and 98% of adults had S-25-OHD <80 nmol/L, which has been regarded as the optimal level for bone health.

Since the studied patient groups are at high risk of secondary osteoporosis, adequate vitamin D supplementation should be provided. Optimal dosing remains open, as several subjects in intervention studies failed to reach an optimal 25-OHD level. In adults with ID, a S-25-OHD concentration of >80 nmol/L was obtained by 42% of the PO group and by only 12% of the IM group. In children, only 19% reached an optimal S-25-OHD level. In the group of children with no supplementation, vitamin D levels

were even lower at the beginning of summer, indicating the need for vitamin D supplementation also during the summer months.

The observed low vitamin D concentrations are consistent with studies in healthy Finnish children, adolescents, and adults (Kauppinen-Mäkelin et al. 2001, Lamberg-Allardt et al. 2001, Lehtonen-Veromaa et al. 1999, 2002, Viljakainen et al. 2006, Välimäki 2007). Based on these observations, the national recommendations for vitamin D intake should be reconsidered. In general, there is an urgent need for studies on the optimal dosing, safety, and efficacy of long-term vitamin D supplementation. Recommendations concerning vitamin D supplementation are not always based on studies with modern techniques to assess S-25-OHD. Furthermore, earlier studies have considered the two different vitamin D preparations (D2 and D3) to be equal in efficacy and side-effects (Vieth 1999).

Some earlier studies have compared different vitamin D supplementation regimens in healthy populations and senior citizens (Heikinheimo et al. 1992, 1996, Guillemant et al. 2001, Trivedi et al. 2003, Diamond et al. 2005, Chel et al. 2008). In the elderly, a peroral dose of 100 000 IU D3 every four months was safe. This dose also decreased fracture risk in the study subjects (Trivedi et al. 2003). Annual intramuscular injections of 600 000 IU D3 were safe in vitamin D deficiency in the elderly (Diamond 2005). Heikinheimo et al. (1992, 1996) reported intramuscular injections of 100 000 IU D2 to decrease risk for fracture. In adolescents, a peroral dose of 100 000 IU D3 three times every second month over the winter season was safe (Guillemant et al. 2001). Oral supplementation with 100 000 IU every fourth month was also effective and safe in correcting vitamin D insufficiency in people with ID (Vanlint and Nugent 2006).

In our study, peroral dosing was more efficient than intramuscular in correcting low S-25OHD values during a six-month observation; S-25OHD increased in the PO group on average 20 nmol/L more than in the IM group. Our study setting was probably not optimal, and based on S-25-OHD levels at six months, it is likely that the six-month interval between vitamin D injections is too long. We could not evaluate biochemical parameters at two to four months, and thus, were unable to analyze the peak vitamin D concentration obtained. The optimal dose interval therefore remains unknown. Further

studies are needed to establish optimal dosing, safety, and efficacy of long-term vitamin D supplementation in adults with ID.

IM injections may be a more convenient and possibly equally effective mode of treatment in adults with ID, who often have problems with swallowing. IM injections are also less expensive than oral vitamin D preparations (Diamond et al. 2005). Its major drawback in Finland is the lack of suitable preparations for wider clinical use.

Nutrition

Nutritional factors play an important role in acquisition of peak bone mass. In the present cohort, energy intakes, both sex- and age-specific, and intakes of some nutrients, especially vitamin D, were too low. The median energy intake was 76% of the recommendation and less than 80% of the recommendation in 57% of children. The median vitamin D intake was 76% of the recommendation, and serum 25-OH-vitamin D concentrations were low, the median being 46 nmol/L.

Malnutrition predisposes a child to disturbances in immune functions and subsequently to infections (Seddon and Khan 2003), which may be an important clinical issue in this patient population. In addition, malnutrition decreases muscle strength (Russell et al. 1983). This may further impair motor function, moving ability, and coordination and reduce the effectiveness of coughing, predisposing to aspiration.

Better nutritional status, as assessed by triceps skin-fold thickness or weight z-scores, has been associated with better BMD in children with moderate to severe CP (Henderson et al. 2004, 2005). Since low BMD and secondary osteoporosis are frequent features in children with severe motor disabilities, every effort should be taken to increase PBM and prevent additional disability caused by fractures. Because there are no official guidelines for these children, feeding problems should be assessed individually.

Low milk intake in childhood and adolescence is associated with decreased bone mass and greater risk of fracture in adulthood (Kalkwarf et al. 2003). Studies suggest that increased use of dairy products is more effective in improving bone health than calcium supplementation (Cheng et al. 2005). Calcium supplementation without vitamin D seems to have no effect on BMD in children (Winzenberg et al. 2006). In contrast to observations by Bertoli et al. (2006b), we found that calcium intake of the Finnish children participating here was fairly good because of the national tradition of consuming abundant dairy products. The median calcium intake was 142% of the recommendation. All children, except one percutaneous endoscopic gastrostomy tube (PEG)-fed child, used dairy products daily. This high calcium intake was probably protective against secondary hyperparathyroidism despite low serum vitamin D concentrations (Steingrimsdottir et al. 2005).

While vitamin A and phosphorus intakes were high, their serum concentrations were within the normal range. Dairy products are the main source of phosphate. Both high phosphate intakes and high phosphate serum concentrations have been associated with adverse skeletal and cardiovascular effects (Tonelli et al. 2005, Kemi et al. 2006). Excessive vitamin A intake has been associated with osteoporosis, but the findings are controversial (Michaelsson et al. 2003).

Although parents reported feeding difficulties in 11 children (20%), only two children were fed by PEG. While PEG improves the caregivers' quality of life, its benefits on the child's growth are controversial; there is a risk of overfeeding, and thus, for excessive fat mass accumulation (Sullivan et al. 2004, 2006). However, many children in the present cohort might have benefited from PEG feeding.

Clinical message

Prevention of osteoporosis in children with severe motor disability should include adequate intakes of vitamin D, calcium, and energy. All children with severe motor disability and individuals with ID living in an institution should be supplemented with a minimum of 800 IU (20 μ g) of vitamin D3 daily. The target S-25-OHD should be >80 nmol/L which has been considered optimal for bone health. In feeding problems, adequate energy supplies should be individually assessed with the help of a dietitian. PEG feeding should be encouraged if optimal energy and nutrient intakes fail to be achieved by oral feeding. Since osteoporosis and fractures are prevalent in children with severe motor disability, efforts should be made to enhance bone mass gain. According to previous studies, BMD can be improved also in people with motor disability by increasing weight-bearing activity (Caulton et al. 2004). Short spurts of repetitive muscular contractions, which according to the mechanostat theory (Schoenau 2005) are beneficial for bone mass gain, are not always possible for people with severe motor disability. The impact and use of low-magnitude, high-frequency mechanical signals (Ward et al. 2004, Gilsanz et al. 2006, Rubin et al. 2006) as well as other means to improve BMD by physical activity should be studied further in this patient population.

Compression fractures were common in children with severe motor disability. However, the cross-sectional nature of the study does not allow us to predict the significance of these fractures or whether all children with severe motor disability should be actively screened for compression fractures. Similarly, although low BMD was a common finding, its ability to predict future fractures cannot be estimated in a cross-sectional setting. While prospective studies and screening guidelines are awaited, emphasis should be placed on active prophylaxis of osteoporosis and fractures.

Bone health in chronically ill children is a fairly new research area within pediatrics and pediatric neurology. Now that the high prevalence of osteoporosis and vitamin D deficiency has been recognized as a significant medical problem in these children, more prospective studies with larger study populations are needed to establish optimal treatment and guidelines for screening and follow-up.

6.2. Limitations of the study

The studies suffer from some limitations. A major limitation is the small sample sizes in Studies I and II. Further, the cohort is heterogeneous with regard to etiology of the disability. However, the study group represents a normal outpatient population in any pediatric neurology department in Finland. Thus, our observations are relevant to pediatric neurologists and can be extended to the patient population in their clinics.

The interpretation of pediatric DXA is influenced by growth and developmental stage of the child, and if these are not taken into account, osteoporosis can be misdiagnosed. A BMD obtained by DXA is dependent on bone size. DXA underestimates BMD in a short child with small bones and overestimates BMD in a tall child with larger bones. Chronic diseases often influence the growth and development of a child; usually a child with a chronic condition is small for his/her age. We compared the measurements with age- and sex-specific reference values. These were further adjusted for bone size by a mathematical model and for pubertal stage by using bone age instead of calendar age when these were discrepant. Despite these efforts, the DXA-derived BMD values may not be completely reliable in the assessment of bone health in children with motor disability. Furthermore, DXA fails to provide information on bone quality, which might not be parallel to bone mass and is known to influence fracture resistance.

Most DXA measurement sites lack pediatric reference data, and published data are specific for the equipment and the manufacturer; DXA results measured with different equipment are therefore not comparable. We used previously published normative data based on the measurements of 444 healthy Caucasian children in the Netherlands using the same equipment. This was regarded as more reliable than the published Finnish reference values for the equipment (Kröger et al. 1993), as these were based on a very small number of subjects (N=65) and the variation was large.

The association between fractures and low BMD in children is not as clear as in adults, and DXA may not be an optimal means of measuring bone strength. However, our results showed a clear association between low BMAD Z-score and fracture risk.

The weakness of the food diaries filled by parents is that the evaluation depends completely on the information given by them. A three-day food diary is, however, a widely accepted standard method to evaluate nutrient intakes (Nelson et al. 1989), and calculations were made by two registered dietitians. Because energy needs may differ between children with severe motor disability and healthy children, the study would have greatly benefited from an evaluation of energy expenditure (Stallings et al. 1996), but such a method was not available for the study.
Height measurements are complicated in children with motor disabilities because of contractures and scoliosis. The obtained heights can be underestimations, and thus, true height-adjusted weights and BMIs may be even lower than those reported here.

The two vitamin D interventions left several questions unanswered. In Study **III**, a longer intervention time would have provided an opportunity to detect more marked changes in bone metabolism, or changes in BMD and muscle strength. However, the study was primarily designed to determine optimal vitamin D dosing and can thus be regarded as a pilot study. Our observations provide information regarding vitamin D dosing to be used in subsequent intervention studies assessing more complex skeletal and health-related parameters in children with motor disabilities. In **Study IV**, the timing of the second blood samples was not optimal for detecting the peak concentration of S-25-OHD; the optimal dosing and interval for intramuscular vitamin D remains open.

6.3. Future perspectives

Low BMD, a high fracture rate, and low vitamin D levels were observed in the children studied. Vitamin D supplementation clearly should be used. However, the dosing remains open, as does other means to decrease the risk of fractures and low BMD in these children. The optimal timing and dosing of intramuscular vitamin D injection requires further research.

We found hypercalciuria to be a clear risk for fractures in children with severe motor disabilities. The clinical implications of this finding remain to be elucidated in future studies.

Improvement of nutritional status in children with motor disability may bring significant health benefits. Methods to define, assess, and achieve optimal nutritional status in children with motor disabilities remain unknown and should be addressed in future research.

Bisphosphonates have been used in the treatment of osteoporosis in childhood. Knowledge of their effects in children is based mainly on studies carried out in children with OI. The potential benefits of bisphosphonates in the treatment of secondary osteoporosis in children with motor disabilities await elucidation (Bachrach and Ward 2009).

7. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

This study demonstrated that low BMD and vertebral compression fractures are common in children with severe motor disabilities. Low BMD (Z-score <-2.0) was observed in more than half of the children. Compression fractures were found in 25% of the children. Further, according to recent diagnostic criteria, childhood osteoporosis was diagnosed in 10 of the 59 children with severe motor disability. Low BMD and hypercalciuria were significant risk factors for fractures.

Compromised weight-bearing activity is a clear risk factor for low BMD. Other risk factors, such as poor nutrition and vitamin D insufficiency, were commonly observed in children with severe motor disability. Moreover, adults with ID living in an institution had poor vitamin D status. Only 1% of adults with ID and 5% of children with motor disability had a S-25-OHD level above 80 nmol/L.

Vitamin D deficiency and poor nutrition are risk factors that can be treated. Both patient groups should be provided with adequate calories in the diet and vitamin D supplements to prevent osteoporosis. Peroral vitamin D supplementation of 800-1000 IU/day (20-25 μ g/day) was safe and efficient, and should be used in these patients all year round. Evaluation and prevention of osteoporosis are recommended in the follow-up of all children with severe motor disabilities and patients with ID.

8. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This study was carried out as a collaborative project between the Pediatric Neurology Unit, Päijät-Häme Central Hospital; the Departments of Pediatrics and Pediatric Neurology, Hospital of Children and Adolescents, University of Helsinki; Ruskeasuo School, Developmental Center for the Disabled, Helsinki; and at Pääjärvi Inter-Municipal Association, Lammi, during 2004-2009.

My sincere gratitude is owed to Professor Mikael Knip and Dr. Eero Jokinen, Hospital for Children and Adolescents, University of Helsinki, for providing excellent research facilities. I also thank Professor Markku Heikinheimo, Director of the Pediatric Graduate School, University of Helsinki, for creating such an encouraging evaluation and follow-up program.

I am deeply indebted to my supervisors, Docent Outi Mäkitie and Professor Helena Pihko for their guidance, support, and help. They patiently introduced me into the field of scientific research but, also emphasized the importance of life beyond of the scientific world. Without Outi's exceptional interest in science and her expertise in the field of bone health, this work would never have been completed. Outi was always optimistic and supportive even during the most difficult moments.

I am indebted to the official reviewers of this work, Research Professor Ilona Autti-Rämö and Docent Kirsti Näntö-Salonen for their constructive criticism and valuable advice during the final preparation of my thesis. I am also sincerely grateful to the members of my thesis committee at the Pediatric Graduate School, Docents Tuula Lönnqvist and Mervi Taskinen.

My warmest thanks are due to my coauthors: Docent Maria Arvio, Vesa Ilvesmäki, MD, PhD, Docent Pentti Lautala, Hilve Nenonen, MD, Taava Paasio, MD, Aila Paganus, PhD, Ulla Maija Ritanen, MD, Martti Soiva, MD, PhD, and Ulla Vesander, PhD. Without their contribution, this study would never have seen the light of day. Petri Palmu, MScSoc, is thanked for statistical expertise, Carol Ann Pelli, HonBSc, for editing the language, and Pekka Paavola, MSc(Eng), for helping with the figures.

Ulla Maija Ritanen, Head of the Pediatric Neurology Unit at Päijät-Häme Central Hospital, is thanked for giving me the opportunity to perform clinical studies and for providing the facilities. It was Ulla Maija who first consulted Outi Mäkitie and set this all in motion.

My deepest gratitude is due to all personnel of the Pediatric Neurology Unit, Päijät-Häme Central Hospital. Their contribution to this work has been significant in many ways. A special thanks goes to Riitta-Liisa Järvinen, who organized everything with patients and with the departments of Radiology and the Laboratory. I am also very grateful to the personnel at those units. Also Marjo Paananen is thanked for her patience with the extra work due to my study. I warmly acknowledge the input of the staff at Ruskeasuo School and of the Pääjärvi Inter-Municipal Association. Above all, I wish to thank all of my patients, the children at Ruskeasuo School, the residents at Pääjärvi, and their parents or guardians for participating in this project.

The ``Skeletal girls'', our research group: Christine Laine, Kati Markula-Patjas, Mervi Mäyränpää, Anne Saarinen, Sanna Toiviainen-Salo, and Helena Valta, deserve warm thanks for friendship and support during these years. Together, we have spent unforgettable times celebrating, congressing, and studying. With them, I found my favourite place for *Tapas*, had my manicure done in Hawaiian style, introduced myself to lounge life, and discovered how to make *soupe de topinambour*, to mention some of the sweetest memories. Their companionship has been enormously important.

I thank all of my colleagues at Päijät-Häme Central Hospital. I also thank all of my relatives and friends, whom I have often neglected during this project.

Warm thanks are owed to my parents, Ulla-Maija and Eero Kilpinen, and my mother-inlaw, Eila Loisa, for their encouragement and support. My sister, Pia Kilpinen, and her family deserve a special thanks. My heartfelt thanks and love go to my beloved husband Pekka and our children Eetu and Elina for keeping me in touch with real life and not allowing me to devote too much time to vitamin D business. They sometimes wished that I had never started this project, but still they were always there for me.

Financial support provided by the Arvo and Lea Ylppö Foundation, the Päivikki and Sakari Sohlberg Foundation, the Foundation for Paediatric Research, the Sigrid Juselius Foundation, the Finnish Medical Society Duodecim, the Academy of Finland, the Helsinki University Hospital research funds, the Päijät-Häme Central Hospital research funds, the Lastenlinna Foundation, and the Päijät-Häme Medical Society is gratefully acknowledged.

Lahti, March 2010

Päivi Kilpinen-Loisa

9. REFERENCES

Ala-Houhala M, Sorva R, Pelkonen A, Johansson C, Ståhlberg M, Hakulinen A, Lautala P, Visakorpi JK, Perheentupa J. Riisitaudin uusi tuleminen – esiintyvyys, diagnostiikka ja hoito. Duodecim 1995; 111: 337-344.

Allgrove J. A practical approach to rickets. Endocr Dev 2009; 16: 115-132.

Armas LAG, Hollis BW, Heaney RP. Vitamin D2 is much less effective than vitamin D3 in humans. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2004; 89: 5387-5391.

Arvio M, Sillanpää M. Prevalence, aetiology and comorbidity of severe and profound intellectual disability in Finland. J Intellect Disabil Res 2003; 47: 108-112.

Arvio M, Kilpinen-Loisa P, Tiitinen A, Huovinen K, Mäkitie O. Bone mineral density and sex hormone status in intellectually disabled women on progestin-induced amenorrhea. Acta Obst Gynecol Scand 2009; 88: 428-433.

Aspray TJ, Francis RM, Thompson A, Quilliam SJ, Rawlings DJ, Tyrer SP. Comparison of ultrasound measurements at the heel between adults with mental retardation and control subjects. Bone 1998; 22; 665-668.

Bachrach LK, Ward LM. Clinical Review 1. Bisphosphonate use in childhood osteoporosis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2009; 94: 400-409.

Barker-Lux MJ, Heaney RP. Effects of above average summer sun exposure on serum 25hydroxyvitamin D and calcium absorption. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2002; 87: 4952-4956.

Baron R. General Principles of Bone biology. In: Primer on the Metabolic Bone Diseases and Disorders of Mineral Metabolism. Fifth ed, The American Society for Bone and Mineral Research, Washington DC, USA, 2003, pp 1-8.

Baxter-Jones AD, Kontulainen SA, Faulkner RA, Bailey DA. A longitudinal study of the relationship of physical activity to bone mineral accrual from adolescence to young adulthood. Bone 2008; 43: 1101-1107.

Bertoli S, Battezzati A, Merati G, Margonato V, Maggioni M, Testolin G, Veicsteinas A. Nutritional status and dietary patterns in disabled people. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis 2006a; 16: 100-112.

Bertoli S, Cardinali S, Veggiotti P, Trentani C, Testolin G, Tagliabue A. Evaluation of nutritional status in children with refractory epilepsy. Nutr J 2006b; 5: 14.

Binkley N, Krueger D, Gangnon R, Genant HK, Drezner MK. Lateral vertebral assessment: a valuable technique to detect clinically significant vertebral fractures. Osteoporos Int 2005; 16: 1513-1518.

Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Dawson-Hughes B, Willet WC, Staehelin HB, Bazemore MG, Zee RY Wong JB. Effect of vitamin D on falls. A meta-analysis. JAMA 2004a; 291: 1999-2006.

Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Dietrich T, Orav EJ, Hu FB, Zhang Y, Karlson EW, Dawson-Hughes B. Higher 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentrations are associated with better lower-extremity function in both active and inactive persons aged ≥ 60 y. Am J Clin Nutr 2004b; 80: 752-758.

Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Dawson-Hughes B, Staehelin HB, Orav JE, Stuck AE, Theiler R, Wong JB, Egli A, Kiel DP, Henschkowski J. Fall prevention with supplemental and active forms of vitamin D: a meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. BMJ. 2009; 339: b3692.

Bishop N, Braillon P, Burnham J, Cimaz R, Davies J, Fewtrell M, Hogler W, Kennedy K, Mäkitie O, Mughal Z, Shaw N, Vogiatzi M, Ward K, Bianchi ML. Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry assessment in children and adolescents with diseases that may affect the skeleton: The 2007 ISCD Pediatric Official Positions. J Clin Densitom 2008; 11: 29-42.

Bishop N. Primary osteoporosis. Endocr Dev 2009; 16: 157-169.

Bonjour JP, Theintz G, Buchs B, Slosman D, Rizzoli R. Critical years and stages of puberty for spinal and femoral bone mass accumulation during adolescence. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1991; 73: 555-563.

Bonjour JP, Theintz G, Law F, Slosman D, Rizzoli R. Peak bone mass. Osteoporos Int. 1994; 4 Suppl 1: 7-13.

Bonjour JP, Chevalley T, Ferrari S, Rizzoli R. The importance and relevance of peak bone mass in the prevalence of osteoporosis. Salud Publica Mex. 2009; 51 Suppl 1 :S5-17.

Bothwell JE, Gordon KE, Dooley JM, MacSween J, Cummings EA, Salisbury S. Vertebral fractures in boys with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Clin Pediatr (Phila) 2003; 42: 353-356.

Brodaus AE. Mineral Balance and Homeostasis. In: Primer on the Metabolic Bone Diseases and Disorders of Mineral Metabolism, Fifth ed, The American Society for Bone and Mineral Research, Washington DC, USA, 2003, pp 105-111.

Cannell JJ, Vieth R, Umhau JC, Holick MF, Grant WB, Madronich S, Garland CF, Giovannucci E. Epidemic influenza and vitamin D. Epidemiol Infect 2006; 134: 1129-1140.

Cannell JJ, Hollis BW. Use of vitamin D in clinical practice. Altern Med Rev 2008; 13: 6-20.

Cantorna MT, Zhu Y, Froicu M, Wittke A. Vitamin D status, 1,25-dihydroxytiamin D3, and the immune system. Am J Clin Nutr 2004; 80(suppl): 1717S-1720S.

Carter DR, Bouxsein ML, Marcus R. New approaches for interpreting projected bone densitometry data. J Bone Miner Res 1992; 7: 137-145.

Cassell C, Benedict M, Specker B. Bone mineral density in elite 7- to 9-yr-old female gymnasts and swimmers. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1996; 28: 1243-1246.

Caulton JM, Ward KA, Alsop CW, Dunn G, Adams JE, Mughal MZ. A randomised controlled trial of standing programme on bone mineral density in non-ambulant children with cerebral palsy. Arch Dis Child 2004; 89: 131-135.

Center J, Beange H, McElduff A. People with mental retardation have an increased prevalence of osteoporosis: a population study. Am J Ment Retard 1998; 103: 19-28.

Chapuy MC, Preziosi P, Maamer M, Arnaud S, Galan P, Hercberg S, Meunier PJ. Prevalence of vitamin D insufficiency in an adult normal population. Osteoporos Int 1997; 7: 439-443.

Chel V, Wijnhoven HAH, Smit JH, Ooms M, Lips P. Efficacy of different doses and time intervals of oral vitamin D supplementation with or without calcium in elderly nursing home residents. Osteopor Int 2008; 19: 663-671.

Cheng JCY, Shen WY. Limb fracture pattern in different pediatric age groups: a study of 3,350 children. J Orthop Trauma 1993; 7: 15-22.

Cheng S, Lyytikäinen A, Kröger H, Lamberg-Allardt C, Alen M, Koistinen A, Wang QJ, Suuriniemi M, Suominen H, Mahonen A, Nicholson PHF, Ivaska KK, Korpela R, Ohlsson C, Väänänen KH, Tylavsky F. Effects of calcium, dairy product, and vitamin D supplementation on bone mass accrual and body composition in 10-12-y-old girls: a 2-yrandomized trial. Am J Clin Nutr 2005; 82: 1115-1126.

Clark EM, Ness AR, Bishop NJ, Tobias JH. Association between bone mass and fractures in children: a prospective cohort study. J Bone Miner Res 2006; 21: 1489-1495.

Crabtree N, Ward K. Bone densitometry: Current status and future perspectives. Endocr Dev 2009; 16: 58-72.

Crofton PM, Wade JC, Taylor MRH, Holland CV. Serum concentrations of carboxyl-terminal propeptide of type I procollagen, amino-terminal propeptide of type III procollagen, crosslinked carboxyl-terminal telopeptide of type I collagen, and their interrelationships in schoolchildren. Clin Chem 1997; 43: 1577-1581.

Dawson-Hughes B, Harris SS, Krall EA, Dallal GE, Falconer G, Green CL. Rates of bone loss in postmenopausal women randomly assigned to one of two dosages of vitamin D. Am J Clin Nutr 1995; 61: 1140-1145.

Dawson-Hughes B, Harris SS, Krall EA, Dallal GE. Effect of calcium and vitamin D supplementation on bone density in men and women 65 years of age or older. N Engl J Med 1997; 337: 670-676.

Dawson-Hughes B, Heaney RP, Holick MF, Lips P, Meunier PJ, Vieth R. Estimates of optimal vitamin D status. Osteoporos Int 2005; 16: 713-716.

Diamond TH, Ho KW, Rohl PG, Meerkin M. Annual intramuscular injection of a megadose of cholecalciferol for treatment of vitamin D deficiency: efficacy and safety data. Med J Aust 2005; 183: 10-12.

Dizon CD, Allen LM, Ornstein MP. Menstrual and contraceptive issues among young women with developmental delay: a retrospective review of cases at the Hospital for Sick Children, Toronto. J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol. 2005; 18: 157-162.

El-Hajj Fuleihan G, Nabulsi M, Choucair M, Salamoun M, Hajj Shahine C, Kizirian A, Tannous R. Hypovitaminosis D in healthy schoolchildren. Pediatrics 2001; 107: E53.

El-Hajj Fuleihan G, Nabulsi M, Tamim H, Maalouf J, Salamoun M, Khalife H, Choucair M, Arabi A, Vieth R. Effect of vitamin D replacement on musculoskeletal parameters in school children: a randomized controlled trial. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2006; 91: 405-412.

Fewtrell MS; British Paediatric & Adolescent Bone Group. Bone densitometry in children assessed by dual x ray absorptiometry: uses and pitfalls. Arch Dis Child 2003; 88: 795-798.

Fewtrell MS, Gordon I, Biassoni L, Cole TJ. Dual X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) of the lumbar spine in a clinical paediatric setting: does the method of size-adjustment matter? Bone 2005; 37: 413-419.

Finnish Nutrition Recommendations, National Nutrition Council, Nutrition Recommendation Section, Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry, Helsinki, Finland, 2005 Available from: www.mmm.fi/ravitsemusneuvottelukunta

Fitzpatrick LA. Pathophysiology of bone loss in patients receiving anticonvulsant therapy. Epilepsy Behav 2004; 5: S3-S15.

Frost HM, Schönau E. The 'muscle-bone unit' in children and adolescents: a 2000 overview. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab 2000; 13: 571-590.

Genant HK, Wu CY, van Kuijk C, Nevitt MC. Vertebral fracture assessment using a semiquantitative technique. J Bone Miner Res 1993; 8: 1137-1148.

Gilsanz V, Al Wren T, Sanchez M, Dorey F, Judex S, Rubin C. Low-level, high frequency mechanical signals enhance musculoskeletal development of young women with low BMD. J Bone Miner Res 2006; 21: 1464-1474.

Glaser DL, Kaplan FS. Osteoporosis. Definition and clinical presentation. Spine 1997; 22: 12-16.

Gong Y, Slee RB, Fukai N, Rawadi G, Roman-Roman S, Reginato AM, Wang H, Cundy T, Glorieux FH, Lev D, Zacharin M, Oexle K, Marcelino J, Suwairi W, Heeger S, Sabatakos G, Apte S, Adkins WN, Allgrove J, Arslan-Kirchner M, Batch JA, Beighton P, Black GC, Boles RG, Boon LM, Borrone C, Brunner HG, Carle GF, Dallapiccola B, De Paepe A, Floege B, Halfhide ML, Hall B, Hennekam RC, Hirose T, Jans A, Jüppner H, Kim CA, Keppler-Noreuil K, Kohlschuetter A, LaCombe D, Lambert M, Lemyre E, Letteboer T, Peltonen L, Ramesar RS, Romanengo M, Somer H, Steichen-Gersdorf E, Steinmann B, Sullivan B, Superti-Furga A, Swoboda W, van den Boogaard MJ, Van Hul W, Vikkula M, Votruba M, Zabel B, Garcia T, Baron R, Olsen BR, Warman ML; Osteoporosis-Pseudoglioma Syndrome Collaborative Group. LDL receptor-related protein 5 (LRP5) affects bone accrual and eye development. Cell 2001; 107: 513-523

Gordon CM, Bachrach LK, Carpenter TO, Crabtree N, El-Hajj Fuleihan G, Kutilek S, Lorenc RS, Tosi LL, Ward KA, Ward LM, Kalkwarf HJ. Dual energy X-ray absorptiometry interpretation and reporting in children and adolescents: The 2007 ISCD pediatric official positions. J Clin Densitom 2008; 11: 43-58.

Grabowski P. Physiology of Bone. Endocr Dev 2009; 16: 32-48.

Greulich WW, Pyle SI. Radiographic atlas of the skeletal development of the hand and wrist. 2nd ed. Stanford University Press, Palo Alto, CA, 1959.

Guillemant J, Taupin P, Le HT, Taright N, Allemandou A, Peres G, Guillemant S. Vitamin D status during puberty in French healthy male adolescents. Osteoporos Int 1999; 10: 222-225.

Guillemant J, Le HT, Maria A, Allemandou A, Peres G, Guillemant S. Wintertime vitamin D deficiency in male adolescents: effect on parathyroid function and response to vitamin D3 supplements. Osteoporos Int 2001; 12, 875-879.

Hallman N, Hultin H, Visakorpi JK. Riisitaudin ennakkotorjunnasta. Duodecim 1964; 80: 185-189. Hartikka H, Mäkitie O, Männikkö M, Doria AS, Daneman A, Cole WG, Ala-Kokko L, Sochett EB. Heterozygous mutations in the LDL receptor-related protein 5 (LRP5) gene are associated with primary osteoporosis in children. J Bone Miner Res 2005; 20: 783-789.

Heney RP, Barger-Lux MJ, Dowell MS, Chen TC, Holick MF. Calcium absorptive effects of vitamin D and its major metabolites. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1997; 82: 4111-4116.

Heikinheimo RJ, Inkovaara JA, Harju EJ, Haavisto MV, Kaarela RH, Kataja JM, Kokko AM, Kolho LA, Rajala SA. Annual injection of vitamin D and fractures of aged bones. Calcif Tissue Int 1992; 51: 105-110.

Heikinheimo R, Sievänen H, Jäntti P, Mäki-Jokela P, Rajala S, Vuori I. Vitamin D treatment and bone mineral density in the aged. Maturitas 1996; 23(Suppl): S77-S80.

Heikura U, Taanila A, Olsen P, Hartikainen AL, von Wendt L, Järvelin MR. Temporal changes in incidence and prevalence of intellectual disability between two cohorts in Northern Finland. Am J Ment Retard 2003; 108: 19-31.

Henderson RC. Bone density and other possible predictors of fracture risk in children and adolescents with spastic quadriplegia. Dev Med Child Neurol 1997; 39: 224-227.

Henderson RC, Lark RK, Gurka MJ, Worley G, Fung EB, Conaway M, Stallings VA, Stevenson RD. Bone density and metabolism in children and adolescents with moderate to severe cerebral palsy. Pediatrics 2002; 110: e5.

Henderson RC, Kairalla J, Abbas A, Stevenson RC. Predicting low bone density in children and young adults with quadriplegic cerebral palsy. Dev Med Child Neurol 2004; 46: 416-419.

Henderson RC, Kairalla JA, Barrington J W, Abbas A, Stevenson RD. Longitudinal changes in bone density in children and adolescents with moderate to severe cerebral palsy. J Pediatr 2005; 146: 769-775.

Holick MF. Sunlight and vitamin D for bone health and prevention of autoimmune diseases, cancers, and cardiovascular disease. Am J Clin Nutr 2004; 80(suppl): 1678S-1688S.

Holick MF, Biancuzzo RM, Chen TC, Klein EK, Young A, Bibuld D, Reitz R, Salameh W, Ameri A, Tannenbaum AD. Vitamin D2 is as effective as vitamin D3 in maintaining circulating concentrations of 25-hydroxyvitamin D. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2008; 93: 677-681.

Hollis BW. Comparison of equilibrium and disequilibrium assay conditions for ergocalciferol, cholecalciferol and their major metabolites. J Steroid Biochem 1984; 21: 81-86.

Horst RL, Reinhardt TA, Reddy GS. Vitamin D metabolism. In: Vitamin D, 2nd ed, Elsevier Inc, Amsterdam, the Netherlands, 2005, pp 15-36.

Houghton LA, Vieth R. The case against ergocalciferol (vitamin D2) as a vitamin supplement. Am J Clin Nutr 2006; 84: 694-697.

Jaffe JS, Timell AM, Gulanski BI. Prevalence of low bone density in women with developmental disabilities. J Clin Densitom 2001; 4: 25-29.

Jaffe JS, Timell AM. Prevalence of low bone density in institutionalized men with developmental disabilities. J Clin Densitom 2003; 6: 143-147.

Jaffe JS, Timell AM, Elolia R, Thatcher SS. Risk factors for low bone mineral density in individuals residing in a facility for the people with intellectual disability. J Intellect Disabil Res 2005; 49; 457-462.

Janz KF, Burns TL, Torner JC, Levy SM, Paulos R, Willing MC, Warren JJ. Physical activity and bone measures in young children: The Iowa bone development study. Pediatrics 2001; 107: 1387-1393.

Kalkwarf HJ, Khoury JC, Lanphear BP. Milk intake during childhood and adolescence, adult bone density, and osteoporotic fractures in US women. Am J Clin Nutr 2003; 77: 257-265.

Kanis JA. An update on the diagnosis of osteoporosis. Curr Rheumatol Rep 2000; 2: 62-66.

Kanis JA, Glüer CC. An update on the diagnosis and assessment of osteoporosis with densitometry. Committee of Scientific Advisors, International Osteoporosis Foundation. Osteoporos Int 2001; 11: 192-202.

Karsenty G, Kronenberg HM. Postnatal bone growth. In: Pediatric Bone. Ed. Glorieux FH, Pettifor JM, Juppner H. Elsevier Science, San Diego, CA, USA, 2003, pp 119-133.

Kato T, Yamashita T, Mizutani S, Honda A, Matumoto M, Umemura Y. Adolescent exercise associated with long-term superior measures of bone geometry: A cross-sectional DXA and MRI study. Br J Sports Med 2009; 43: 932-935.

Kauppinen-Mäkelin R, Tähtelä R, Löyttyniemi E, Kärkkäinen J, Välimäki MJ. A high prevalence of hypovitaminosis D in Finnish medical in- and outpatients. J Intern Med 2001; 249: 559-563.

Kemi VE, Kärkkainen MUM, Lamberg-Allardt CJE. High phosphorus intakes acutely and negatively affect Ca and bone metabolism in a dose-dependent manner in healthy young females. Br J Nutr 2006; 96: 545-552.

King W, Levin R, Schmidt R, Oestreich A, Heubi JE. Prevalence of reduced bone mass in children and adults with spastic quadriplegia. Dev Med Child Neurol 2003; 45: 12-16.

King WM, Ruttencutter R, Nagaraja HN, Matkovic V, Landoll J, Hoyle C, Mendell JR, Kissel JT. Orthopedic outcomes of long-term daily corticosteroid treatment in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Neurology 2007; 68: 1607-1613.

Kröger H, Kotaniemi A, Kröger L, Alhava E. Development of bone mass and bone density of the spine and femoral neck - a prospective study of 65 children and adolescents. Bone Miner 1993; 23: 171-182.

Käypä hoito suositus: Osteoporoosi. Duodecim 2000;116:1772-1788. Available at www.kaypahoito.fi

Lamberg-Allardt CJE, Outila TA, Kärkkäinen MUM, Rita HJ, Valsta LM. Vitamin D deficiency and bone health in healthy adults in Finland: could this be a concern in other parts of Europe? J Bone Miner Res 2001; 16: 2066-2073.

Lamberg-Allardt C, Viljakainen H ja työryhmä. D-vitamiinitilanteen seurantatutkimus 2002-2004. Sosiaali- ja terveysministeriön selvityksiä 2006;9.

Landin LA. Fracture patterns in children. Analysis of 8,682 fractures with special reference to incidence, etiology and secular changes in a Swedish urban population 1950-1979. Acta Orthop Scand Suppl 1983; 202: 1-109.

Larson CM, Henderson RC. Bone mineral density and fractures in boys with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. J Pediatr Orthop 2000; 20: 71-74.

LeBoff MS, Kohlmeier L, Hurwitz S, Franklin J, Wright J, Glowacki J. Occult vitamin D deficiency in postmenopausal US women with acute hip fracture. JAMA 1999; 281: 1505-1511.

Leet AI, Mesfin A, Pichard C, Launay F, BrintzenhofeSzoc K, Levey EB, Sponseller PD. Fractures in children with cerebral palsy. J Pediatr Orthop 2006; 26: 624-627.

Lehtonen-Veromaa M, Möttönen T, Irjala K, Kärkkäinen M, Lamberg-Allardt C, Hakola P, Viikari J. Vitamin D intake is low and hypovitaminosis D common in healthy 9- to 15 yearold Finnish girls. Eur J Clin Nutr 1999; 53: 746-751.

Lehtonen-Veromaa MKM, Möttönen TT, Nuotio IO, Irjala KMA, Leino AE, Viikari JSA. Vitamin D and attainment of peak bone mass among peripubertal Finnish girls: a 3-y prospective study. Am J Clin Nutr 2002; 76: 1446-1453.

Leonard MB, Zemel BS. Current concepts in pediatric bone disease. Pediatr Clin North Am 2002; 49: 143-173.

Lian JB, Stein GS, Aubin JE. Bone formation: Maturation and Functional Activities of Osteoblast Lineage Cells. In: Primer on the Metabolic Bone Diseases and Disorders of Mineral Metabolism, Fifth ed, The American Society for Bone and Mineral Research, Washington DC, USA, 2003, pp 13-27.

Lohiya GS, Crinella FM, Tan-Figueroa L, Caires S, Lohiya S. Fracture epidemiology and control in a developmental center. West J Med 1999; 170: 203-209.

Lydecken K. Therapeutic amenorrhea in mentally retarded patients. Duodecim. 1966; 82 850-854. Finnish.

Lyons RA, Sellstrom E, Delahunty AM, Loeb M, Varilo S. Incidence and cause of fractures in European districts. Arch Dis Child 2000; 82: 452-455.

Matkovic V, Landoll JD, Badenhop-Stevens NE, Ha EY, Crncevic-Orlic Z, Li B, Goel P. Nutrition influences skeletal development from childhood to adulthood: a study of hip, spine, and forearm in adolescent females. J Nutr 2004; 134: 701S-705S.

McDonald DGM, Kinali M, Gallagher AC, Mercuri E, Muntoni F, Roper H, Jardine P, Hilton Jones D, Pike MG. Fracture prevalence in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Dev Med Child Neurol 2002; 44: 695-698.

Mergler S, Evenhuis HM, Boot AM, De Man SA, Bindels-De Heus KG, Huijbers WA, Penning C. Epidemiology of low bone mineral density and fractures in children with severe cerebral palsy: a systematic review. Dev Med Child Neurol 2009; 51: 773-778.

Michaelsson K, Lithell H, Vessby B, Melhus H. Serum retinol levels and the risk of fracture. N Engl J Med 2003; 348: 287-294.

Misra M, Pacaud D, Petryk A, Collett-Solberg PF, Kappy M; Drug and Therapeutics Committee of the Lawson Wilkins Pediatric Endocrine Society. Vitamin D deficiency in children and its

management: review of current knowledge and recommendations. Pediatrics 2008; 122: 398-417.

Mughal MZ. Miscellaneous bone disorders. Endocr Dev 2009; 16: 191-217.

Mundy GR, Chen D, Oyajobi BO. Bone remodeling. In: Primer on the Metabolic Bone Diseases and Disorders of Mineral Metabolism, Fifth ed, The American Society for Bone and Mineral Research, Washington DC, USA, 2003, pp 46-58.

Murphy S, Khaw KT, May H, Compston JE. Milk consumption and bone mineral density in middle aged and elderly women. BMJ 1994; 308: 939-941.

Mäkitie O, Doria AS, Henriques F, Cole WG, Compeyrot S, Silverman E, Laxer R, Daneman A, Sochett EB. Radiographic vertebral morphology: a diagnostic tool in pediatric osteoporosis. J Pediatr 2005; 146: 395-401.

Mäyränpää MK, Helenius I, Valta H, Mäyränpää MI, Toiviainen-Salo S, Mäkitie O. Bone densitometry in the diagnosis of vertebral fractures in children: accuracy of vertebral fracture assessment. Bone 2007; 41: 353-359.

NIH. Consensus Developmental Panel on Osteoporosis Prevention, Diagnosis and Therapy. JAMA 2001; 285: 785-795.

Nelson M, Black AE, Morris JA, Cole TJ. Between- and within-subject variation in nutrient intake from infancy to old age: estimating the number of days required to rank dietary intakes with desired precision. Am J Clin Nutr 1989; 50: 155-167.

Nieves JW. Osteoporosis: the role of micronutrients. Am J Clin Nutr 2005; 81(suppl): 1232S-1239S.

Nordic Council of Ministers. Nordic Nutrition recommendations 2004 – integrating nutrition and physical activity. 4th ed. Nord 2004; 13.

Norwood FL, Harling C, Chinnery PF, Eagle M, Bushby K, Straub V. Prevalence of genetic muscle disease in Northern England: in depth-analysis of a muscle clinic population. Brain 2009, Sep 18. [Epub ahead of print].

Nurmi I, Narinen A, Lüthje P, Tanninen S. Cost analysis of hip fracture treatment among the elderly for the public health services: a 1-year prospective study in 106 consecutive patients. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg 2003; 123: 551-554.

Outila TA, Kärkkäinen MUM, Lamberg-Allardt CJE. Vitamin D status affects serum parathyroid hormone concentrations during winter in female adolescents: associations with forearm bone mineral density. Am J Clin Nutr 2001; 74: 206-210.

Palacios C. The role of nutrients in bone health, from A to Z. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr 2006; 46: 621-628.

Palisano R, Rosenbaum P, Walter S, Russel D, Wood E, Galuppi B. Development and reliability of a system to classify gross motor function in children with cerebral palsy. Dev Med Child Neurol 1997; 39: 214-223.

Palisano RJ, Rosenbaum P, Bartlett D, Livingston MH. Content validity of the expanded and revised cross motor function classification system. Dev Med Child Neurol 2008; 50: 744-750.

Pettifor JM. Vitamin D deficiency and nutritional rickets in children. Vitamin D, 2nd ed. Elsevier Inc, Amsterdam, the Netherlands, 2005, pp 1065-1083.

Poretti A, Anheier T, Zimmermann R, Boltshauser E; Swiss Pediatric Surveillance Unit (SPSU). Neural tube defects in Switzerland from 2001 to 2007: are periconceptual folic acid recommendations being followed? Swiss Med Wkly 2008; 138: 608-613.

Quan A, Adams R, Ekmark E, Baum M. Bone mineral density in children with meyleomeningocele. Pediatrics 1998; 102: e34.

Rauch F, Glorieux FH. Osteogenesis imperfecta. Lancet 2004; 363: 1377-1385.

Rauch F, Plotkin H, DiMeglio L, Engelbert RH, Henderson RC, Munns C, Wenkert D, Zeitler P. Fracture prediction and the definition of osteoporosis in children and adolescents: The ISCD 2007 Pediatric Official positions. J Clin Densitom 2008; 11: 22-28.

Rauch F, Schoenau E. Peripheral quantitative computed tomography of the proximal radius in young subjects - New reference data and interpretation of results. J Musculoskelet Neuronal Interact 2008; 8: 217-226.

Rauch F. Bone biopsy: Indications and methods. Endocr Dev 2009; 16: 49-57.

Rauchenzauner M, Schmid A, Heinz-Erian P, Kapelari K, Falkensammer G, Griesmacher A, Finkenstedt G, Högler W. Sex- and age-specific reference curves for serum markers of bone turnover in healthy children from 2 months to 18 years J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2007; 92: 443-449.

Rosenbaum P, Paneth N, Leviton A, Goldstein M, Bax M, Damiano D, Dan B, Jacobsson B. A report: the definition and classification of cerebral palsy April 2006. Dev Med Child Neurol Suppl 2007; 109: 8-14.

Rubin C, Judex S, Qin Y. Low-level mechanical signals and their potential as a non-pharmacological interventions for osteoporosis. Age and ageing 2006; Suppl 2: ii32-ii36.

Russell DM, Leiter LA, Whitwell J, Marliss EB, Jeejeebhoy KN. Skeletal muscle function during hypocaloric diets and fasting: a comparison with standard nutritional assessment parameters. Am J Clin Nutr 1983; 37: 133-138.

Schönau E. From mechanostat theory to development of the 'Functional Muscle-Bone-Unit'. J Musculoskelet Neuronal Interact 2005; 5: 232-238.

Scientific Committee on Food. Opinion of the Scientific Committee on Food on the Tolerable Upper Intake Level of Vitamin D 2002. European Commission, Health and Consumer protection directorate-general.

Seddon PC, Khan Y. Respiratory problems in children with neurological impairment. Arch Dis Child 2003; 88: 75-78.

Seeman E. Pathogenesis of bone fragility in women and men. Lancet 2002; 359: 1841-1850.

Seeman E, Delmas PD. Bone quality - the material and structural basis of bone strength and fragility. N Engl J Med 2006; 354: 2250-2261.

Seibel MJ. Biochemical markers of bone turnover: part I: Biochemistry and variability. Clin Biochem Rev 2005; 26: 97-122.

Seibel MJ. Biochemical markers of bone turnover: part II: Clinical applications in the management of osteoporosis. Clin Biochem Rev 2006; 27: 123-138.

Shapiro F. Bone development and its relation to fracture repair. The role of mesenchymal osteoblasts and surface osteoblasts. Eur Cell Mater 2008: 15; 53-76.

Slemenda CW, Christian JC, Williams CJ, Norton JA, Johnston CC Jr. Genetic determinants of bone mass in adult women: a reevaluation of the twin model and the potential importance of gene interaction on heritability estimates. J Bone Miner Res 1991; 6: 561-567.

Sochett EB, Mäkitie O. Osteoporosis in chronically ill children. Ann Med 2005; 37: 286-294.

Soroko S, Holbrook TL, Edelstein S, Barret-Connor E. Lifetime milk consumption and bone mineral density in older women. Am J Public Health 1994; 84: 1319-1322.

Sorva R, Lankinen S, Tolppanen EM, Perheentupa J. Variation of growth in height and weight of children. II. After Infancy. Acta Paediatr Scand 1990; 79: 498-506.

Specker BL, Schönau E. Quantitative bone analysis in children: current methods and recommendations. J Peditr 2005; 146: 726-731.

Stallings VA, Zemel BS, Davies JC, Cronk CE, Charney EB. Energy expenditure of children and adolescents with severe disabilities: a cerebral palsy model. Am J Clin Nutr 1996; 64: 627-634.

Steingrimsdottir L, Gunnarsson O, Indridason OS, Franzson L, Sigurdsson G. Relationship between serum parathyroid hormone levels, vitamin D sufficiency, and calcium intake. JAMA 2005; 294: 2336-41.

Stevenson RD, Conaway M, Barrington JW, Cuthill SL, Worley G, Henderson RC. Fracture rate in children with cerebral palsy. Pediatr Rehabil 2006; 9: 396-403.

Sullivan PB, Lambert B, Rose M, Ford-Adams M, Johnson A, Griffiths P. Prevalence and severity of feeding and nutritional problems in children with neurological impairment: Oxford feeding study. Dev Med Child Neurol 2000; 42: 674-680.

Sullivan PB, Juszczak E, Bachlet AME, Thomas AG, Lambert B, Vernon-Roberts A, Grant HW, Eltumi M, Alder N, Jenkinson C. Impact of gastrosotomy tube feeding on the quality of life of carers of children with cerebral palsy. Dev Med Child Neurol 2004; 46: 796-800.

Sullivan PB, Alder N, Bachlet AM, Grant H, Juszczak E, Henry J, Vernon-Roberts A, Warner J, Wells J. Gastrostomy feeding in cerebral palsy: too much of a good thing? Dev Med Child Neurol 2006; 48: 877-882.

Surveillance of Cerebral Palsy in Europe (SCPE). Prevalence and characteristics of children with cerebral palsy in Europe. Dev Med Child Neurol 2002; 44: 633-640.

Säteilyturvakeskus: Röntgentutkimusten säteilyannokset. Available at www.stuk.fi. Accessed May 13, 2009.

Tannenbaum TN, Lipworth L, Baker S. Risk of fractures in an intermediate care facility for persons with mental retardation. Am J Ment Retard 1989; 93: 444-451.

Tanner JM. Growth at adolescence. Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford, UK, 1962.

Taskinen M, Saarinen-Pihkala UM, Hovi L, Vettenranta K, Mäkitie O. Bone health in children and adolescents after allogeneic stem cell transplantation: high prevalence of vertebral compression fractures. Cancer 2007; 110: 442-451.

Theintz G, Buchs B, Rizzoli R, Slosman D, Clavien H, Sizonenko PC, Bonjour JP. Longitudinal monitoring of bone mass accumulation in healthy adolescents: evidence for a marked reduction after 16 years of age at the levels of lumbar spine and femoral neck in female subjects. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1992; 75: 1060-1065.

Tonelli M, Sacks F, Pfeffer M, Gao Z, Curhan G; Cholesterol and Recurrent Events Trial Investigators. Relation between serum phosphate level and cardiovascular event rate in people with coronary disease. Circulation 2005; 112: 2627-2633.

Trang HM, Cole DEC, Rubin LA, Pierratos A, Siu S, Vieth R. Evidence that vitamin D3 increases serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D more efficiently than does vitamin D2. Am J Clin Nutr 1998; 68: 854-858.

Trivedi DP, Doll R, Khaw KT. Effect of four monthly oral vitamin D3 (cholecalciferol) supplementation on fractures and mortality in men and women living in the community: randomised double blind controlled trial. BMJ 2003; 326: 469-474.

Valta H, Lahdenne P, Jalanko H, Aalto K, Mäkitie O. Bone health and growth in glucocorticoid-treated patients with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Rheumatol 2007; 34: 831-836.

Valta H, Jalanko H, Holmberg C, Helenius I, Mäkitie O. Impaired bone health in adolescents after liver transplantation. Am J Transplant 2008; 8: 150-157.

Valta H, Mäkitie O, Rönnholm K, Jalanko H. Bone health in children and adolescents after renal transplantation. J Bone Miner Res 2009; 24: 1699-1708.

van der Sluis IM, de Muinck Keizer-Schrama SMPF. Osteoporosis in childhood: Bone density of children in health and disease. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab 2001; 14: 817-832.

van der Sluis I, de Ridder MAJ, Boot AM, Krenning EP, de Muinck Keizer-Schrama SMPF. Reference data for bone density and body composition measured with dual energy x ray absorptiometry in white children and young adults. Arch Dis Child 2002; 87: 341-347.

Vanlint S, Nugent M. Vitamin D and fractures in people with intellectual disability. J Intellect Disabil Res 2006; 50: 761-767.

Vieth R. Vitamin D supplementation, 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentrations, and safety. Am J Clin Nutr 1999; 69: 842-856.

Viljakainen HT, Palssa A, Kärkkäinen M, Jakobsen J, Cashman KD, Mølgaard C, Lamberg-Allardt C. A seasonal variation of calcitropic hormones, bone turnover and bone mineral density in early and mid-puberty girls - a cross-sectional study. Br J Nutr 2006; 96: 124-130.

Välimäki VV, Löyttyniemi E, Välimäki MJ. Vitamin D fortification of milk products does not resolve hypovitaminosis D in young Finnish men. Eur J Clin Nutr 2007; 61: 493-497.

Ward K, Alsop C, Caulton J, Rubin C, Adams J, Mughal Z. Low magnitude mechanical loading is osteogenic in children with disabling conditions. J Bone Miner Res 2004; 19: 360-369.

Webb AR, Kline L, Holick MF. Influence of season and latitude on the cutaneous synthesis of vitamin D3: exposure to winter sunlight in Boston and Edmonton will not promote vitamin D3 synthesis in human skin. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1988; 67: 373-378.

Westerinen H, Kaski M, Virta L Almqvist F, Iivanainen M. Prevalence of intellectual disability: a comprehensive study based on national registers. J Intellect Disabil Res 2007; 51: 715-725.

Wilska M, Kaski M. Aetiology of intellectual disability- the Finnish classification: development of a method to incorporate WHO ICD-10 coding. J Intellect Disabil Res 1999; 43: 242-250.

Winzenberg T, Shaw K, Fryer J, Jones G. Effects of calcium supplementation on bone density in healthy children: meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. BMJ 2006; 333: 775-778.

World Health Organization (WHO): Prevention and Management of Osteoporosis. Report of WHO Scientific Group. Technical series, No 921, 2003.

World Health Organization (WHO): International Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems 10th Revision for 2007, Chapter 5.